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GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

The published summary of the Annual report for the year 2007 the Luka Koper group and 
Luka Koper, d.d. complies with the regulations of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange (Ljubljanska 
borza, d.d., Ljubljana) (Article 35) and the Securities Market Act. 

Luka Koper, d.d., has headquarters at Vojkovo Nabrežje 38, SI-6000 Koper.  

Major changes of information provided in the stock exchange listing prospectus are duly and 
regularly published on the Ljubljana Stock Exchange electronic information system SEOnet 
and on the company website at www.luka-kp.si. 

The 2007 Audited Annual Report of Luka Koper, d.d., and of the Luka Koper Group was 
discussed and adopted by the company Supervisory Board at its regular meeting on 09 April 
2008. 

The complete Annual Report can be viewed at the company headquarters every business day 
between 8 am and 1 pm. The 2007 Audited Annual Report of the parent company and the 
Group, along with the Auditor’s Report, has been forwarded to the national Agency for 
Public-Legal Records and Related Services, in accordance with applicable regulations. 

 

AUDIT AND AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

The 2007 Financial Statements of Luka Koper, d.d., and of the Luka Koper Group have been 
audited by the authorised auditor Deloitte Revizija, d.o.o., Ljubljana. The Auditor’s Report 
was received on 01 April 2008. The Authorised Auditor made on 21 March 2008 a positive 
recommendation in relation to the Annual Report of Luka Koper, d.d., and the Luka Koper 
group. 
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STATEMENT OF THE PRESIDENTOF THE MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 
 

Dear respected shareholders and esteemed business partners, 

 

Excellent performance and achievements in 2007 represent significant progress in the 
implementation of our set strategic policies. We have been successfully realising our vision to 
become the leading port and logistics system servicing the countries of Central Europe.  

We increased goods throughput in all key markets. In the Hungarian market, container 
transport rose and throughput climbed to a record 1.3 million tonnes. The higher throughput 
for Slovakia, where we are successfully integrating into goods flows connected with the car 
industry, is promising. New market opportunities are opening up in Germany and in the 
Czech Republic. We penetrated the markets of Romania and Bulgaria and opened a 
representative office for the two countries. Furthermore, we intensified connections with the 
Near and Far East, and South America. We brought our service range even closer to our 
customers by setting up a representative office for the Far East in Malaysia.  

Extensive strategic projects in the past year sped up growth in the port and logistics 
activities of the Luka Koper Group. The expansion of the land terminal network in Slovenia 
and towards the east of Europe, along with specific measures undertaken by Luka Koper to 
become a railway operator, guarantee optimal management of the new port capacities, 
which will be obtained by the extension of pier I, completion of the warehouse facility for 
cars, and finalisation of other investments in port infrastructure and equipment that are 
underway.  

Successful in 2007  

A major strategic jump was made when we changed the structure of maritime throughput. 
The latter rose by 9% in 2007, exceeding 15 million tonnes. Container, car and general 
cargo throughput increased by 40%, 31% and 36%, respectively. I am particularly pleased 
to highlight this increase. Namely, we are boosting the volume of top-quality cargo with 
higher added value that is also more environmentally friendly. Dry bulk cargo remained on 
the 2006 level, which is why the overall increase in throughput is lower. This corresponds to 
the adopted strategy, because owing to spatial rationalisation we will not increase the scope 
of this type of cargo much in the future.  

The rise in cargoes with higher added value, more additional services related to goods, and 
greater throughput in general were also reflected in higher revenues, which totalled more 
than EUR 122 million. These movements were reflected in a promising 20% growth in 
operating profit, which is considerably more than in 2006 (6%). The increase in the net 
profit of the Luka Koper Group was also exceptional, i.e. 49%. In addition to the better 
performance of the parent company and its associates, the increase was also due to higher 
finance income from the disposal of shares in Banka Koper, d.d., in the amount of EUR 5.2 
million, and a lower effective tax rate, which was 8.8% in 2007 and 12% in 2006. Earnings 
per share increased from EUR 1.42 to EUR 1.79. The dramatic increase in the Luka Koper 
share in mid 2007 and its depreciation in the first months of 2008 thus reflect the stock 
exchange movements and not successful performance. The stability and profitability of the 
investment is proved also by the fact that our activity of logistics and transport is intensively 
growing on the global level. 

Launch of investment cycle  
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In 2007, investments set out in the Development Strategy 2006-2015 were in full swing. EUR 
93.8 million was earmarked for these investments, whereas in 2008 the respective amount 
will be EUR 144 million.  

In spite of such extensive investments, the Company’s financial stability was ensured by 
efficient financial management. We defined clear procedures and financing methods which 
provide for the consistent and safe realisation of planned investment projects. The safety of 
the Group’s financial standing is secured by a high share of own sources of financing, since 
capital at the end of the year accounted for 74% of total assets. We have sufficient 
manoeuvring space, so we will also increase the volume of borrowed funds used for 
financing investments. In doing so, we will make sure that financial liabilities are 
predominantly long-term.  

Sufficient funds for financing the investment cycle will also be obtained by the sale of some 
existing financial investments and the directing of surplus cash.   

The Luka Koper Group tomorrow  

Tomorrow’s image of the Luka Koper Group will to a high degree depend on the investments 
in new capacities and development launched in 2007.  

Already at the end of 2008, some new facilities will be completed. The container terminal on 
the extended pier I will be prepared for welcoming giant ships. The European Distribution 
Centre in Sežana will intensify its role in the region and start spreading over an additional 70 
hectares. In line with our partnership strategy, we will undertake additional joint ventures 
with successful logistics companies and expand the network of inland terminals. In 
December 2008, the company Rail Port Arad, one third of which is owned by Luka Koper, will 
set up a container terminal in Arad near the Hungarian-Romanian network. The plans for the 
establishment of the ‘Panonija’ distribution centre in the Prekmurje region, the general cargo 
(especially timber) terminal in Divača, and the terminals in Hungary will definitely be acted 
on. Through the subsidiary Adria Terminali, we will apply for a concession to manage the 
general cargo terminal in the Port of Trieste.  

In 2008, our wagons will transport containers and steel parts for the car industry over the 
Central and Eastern European railway lines. In this way we will be able to utilise the greater 
port capacity, improve its throughput, and develop new logistics services in the framework of 
land terminals.  

Due to the building rights granted by the state in 2007, we will be able to expand capacities 
and put the valuable space available in the port to better use. We expect to sign a 
concession agreement with the Government, which will in the long run define the 
relationship with the state, our largest owner. A car warehouse will be constructed, holding 
up to 2,750 cars in the first phase. The first three of the six new tanks for oil derivatives will 
be installed.  

We expect the green light to be given to the establishment and management of a passenger 
terminal. In addition, we plan to sign the respective agreement with the Minister of 
Transport. The first port warehouse which will host the new passenger terminal has already 
been purchased. Construction is scheduled to start already in 2008.  

The knowledge of our employees, the business excellence integrated into everyday 
operations on all levels, and a quick-response information system are firm assurance that the 
planned projects will be fully and usefully put into practice.  

Sustainable development  

Consistent efforts to restrict environmental impacts remain our basic guidance. We are 
aware of the fact that port and logistics activities are invasive to the environment, but we are 
certain that these impacts can be very much mitigated by suitable measures. That is why 
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new investments have been designed with the aim of creating a balance between economic 
benefits and the benefits brought by a clean environment to us and future generations. To 
this end we founded a company in 2007 which will in the port area produce energy from 
alternative sources. Thus, we will provide ourselves with the energy we consume. The 
environmental aspect will also be consistently complied with at our land terminals.  

The completion of the dust guard for the energy terminal and the purchase of an ecological 
vessel deserve special mentioning among last year’s environmental investments, to which we 
allocated EUR 2.3 million. Last year we established the Sea Protection Department, which 
oversees the port aquatorium. We are applying for a concession to protect the entire 
Slovenian sea, in which case our many years’ experience would definitely be useful.  

By making donations and supporting sports, culture and social projects we strengthen co-
operation with the local community and a wider social environment.  

The basis of our success is our employees, which is why we provide for their satisfaction and 
development. The expansion of activities and new investments also bring new jobs. As a 
result, we recruited 108 employees last year. The Company’ Management Board strives for a 
fruitful dialogue with the trade unions, with which an annex to the Corporate Collective 
Agreement was signed in early 2008.  

50 years since the creation of the only Slovenian port − the anniversary was celebrated last 
year − the Luka Koper Group is expanding and improving its business potential in a 
promising manner. We are persistently following our strategic orientations and strengthening 
our competitive advantages. We would like to thank all the employees of the Luka Koper 
Group for their contribution to the achievement of the set goals and their successful work.  

Robert Časar, 

President of the Management Board of Luka Koper, d.d.Consistent efforts to restrict 
environmental impacts remain our basic guidance. We are aware of the fact that port and 
logistics activities are invasive to the environment, but we are certain that these impacts can 
be very much mitigated by suitable measures. That is why new investments have been 
designed with the aim of creating a balance between economic benefits and the benefits 
brought by a clean environment to us and future generations. To this end we founded a 
company in 2007 which will in the port area produce energy from alternative sources. Thus, 
we will provide ourselves with the energy we consume. The environmental aspect will also 
be consistently complied with at our land terminals.  

The completion of the dust guard for the energy terminal and the purchase of an ecological 
vessel deserve special mentioning among last year’s environmental investments, to which we 
allocated EUR 2.3 million. Last year we established the Sea Protection Department, which 
oversees the port aquatorium. We are applying for a concession to protect the entire 
Slovenian sea, in which case our many years’ experience would definitely be useful.  

By making donations and supporting sports, culture and social projects we strengthen co-
operation with the local community and a wider social environment.  

The basis of our success is our employees, which is why we provide for their satisfaction and 
development. The expansion of activities and new investments also bring new jobs. As a 
result, we recruited 108 employees last year. The Company’ Management Board strives for a 
fruitful dialogue with the trade unions, with which an annex to the Corporate Collective 
Agreement was signed in early 2008.  

50 years since the creation of the only Slovenian port − the anniversary was celebrated last 
year − the Luka Koper Group is expanding and improving its business potential in a 
promising manner. We are persistently following our strategic orientations and strengthening 
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our competitive advantages. We would like to thank all the employees of the Luka Koper 
Group for their contribution to the achievement of the set goals and their successful work.  

 

Robert Časar, 

President of the Management Board of Luka Koper, d.d. 

 

 

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD FOR 2007   
 

 

Respected shareholders!  

In 2007, the Supervisory Board regularly monitored and supervised the work of the 
Management Board. It followed the implementation of the 2007 Business Plan and Strategic 
Guidelines until 2015. Its resolutions and decisions supported the realisation of set strategic 
and business objectives. The Supervisory Board obtained from the Management Board all the 
necessary and required information about the current operations of the Company.  

Even though the present Chairman of the Supervisory Board assumed office only on 19 July 
2007, he reports about the work of the Supervisory Board carried out over the entire year. 
Until taking the position of Chairman, he was a member of the Supervisory Board and is 
therefore fully familiar with its operations.   

Composition of the Supervisory Board  

In 2007, the composition of the Supervisory Board changed. At the 20th meeting, Boris 
Popovič was elected Chairman. The General Meeting of Shareholders appointed Olga Franca 
and Marjan Bezjak to the Supervisory Board as representatives of the Republic of Slovenia. 
Their four-year term of office started on 20 July 2007. Marjan Bezjak was elected Deputy 
Chairman at the 21st meeting. The Supervisory Board operated in full composition (with nine 
members) without interruptions.  

The changes in the composition of the Supervisory Board resulted from the resolution of the 
Government of the Republic of Slovenia to discharge state officials from the supervisory and 
management boards of companies. Accordingly, the then President, Marko Starman, MSc., 
and his Deputy, Dr. Peter Verlič, resigned at the July meeting. The Supervisory Board thanks 
both of them for their valuable contribution during their term of office.   

The composition of the Supervisory Board at the end of 2007 is stated in the Report on 
Corporate Governance. Key data about the members of the Supervisory Board are published 
on the website www.luka-kp.si.  

The members of the Supervisory Board do not have a business relationship with the 
Company or its Management Board nor are they personally or in some other way closely 
connected with either.  

Composition and Performance of the Supervisory Board’s Committees  

Three committees operated in 2007 and reported about their operations at the Supervisory 
Board’s meetings. Changes in the composition of the Supervisory Board influenced the 
composition of the Audit Committee and the Environmental Committee.  
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Until 19 July 2007, the Audit Committee consisted of Dr. Peter Verlič (Chairman), Marko 
Starman, MSc., and Alverino Pavletič (members). When two members were replaced, the 
Supervisory Board appointed Marjan Bezjak and outsourced expert Aleksander Milostnik to 
the Committee. The Committee participated in the examining of the Annual Report for the 
year before, and summarised its findings in the Report on the Work of the Supervisory Board 
for the same year.   

The Environmental Committee is composed of the Chairman, Metod Mezek, and the 
members Olga Franca and Tatjana Jazbec. The Committee met in April 2007, still in the 
former composition with Marko Starman, MSc., as member (replaced by Olga Franca). The 
Committee discussed the material »An Overview of Luka Koper’s Ecological Balance« and 
presented its findings at the 20th meeting of the Supervisory Board. The latter adopted its 
stance on supporting continued measures and investments aimed at restricting the 
environmental impacts of the port.  

The Committee for Spatial Issues (Bojan Zadel (Chairman), Marko Valentinčič and Robert 
Jerman (members)) operated unchanged throughout the year. It acknowledged the open 
questions related to the solving of spatial issues arising from the increase in the volume of 
the Company’s activity, and supported the efforts geared towards signing the concession 
agreement with the Republic of Slovenia.   

The members of the Committees agree that such a method of operation is efficient and will 
continue it in the future, naturally assisted by the relevant departments of the companies 
from the Luka Koper Group which provide them technical and expert support.   

Co-Operation with the Management Board  

The Supervisory Board constantly and actively co-operated with the Management Board and 
was informed about the results of its operations. The Management Board in due time notified 
the Supervisory Board about the business results, key plans and decisions, and regularly 
acquired approvals of investments in property, plant and equipment which exceeded 5% of 
share capital as well as of equity investments. The Supervisory Board assesses that the co-
operation with the Management Board was good.  

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board within his authority also co-operated with the 
Management Board in between Supervisory Board meetings.   

Meetings and Operations of the Supervisory Board  

The supervisory Board met at six regular and two correspondence meetings. The first regular 
meeting was held on 28 February (17th meeting), followed by meetings on 22 March, 21 
May, 19 July, 6 November and 19 December 2007 (22nd meeting). The correspondence 
meetings were held on 6 February and 22 June (3rd and 4th meetings).  

Most meetings were attended by all members of the Supervisory Board; none of them was 
absent often. Depending on the contents of the items on the agenda, the meetings were 
attended by the President and other members of the Management Board as well as expert 
employees of the Company, who thus provided additional explanations and information 
needed for adopting decisions.  

The Supervisory Board’s assessment of its work in 2007 is positive. All members were active 
and monitored the implementation of the adopted resolutions. They were well prepared for 
the meetings and acquired further information about the discussed topics. The composition 
and organisation of the Supervisory Board provided for efficient performance of the 
supervisory function. The new members became acquainted with the work of the 
Supervisory Board and underwent professional training for supervisory board members.   

The Management Board informed the Supervisory Board through quarterly, semi-annual and 
three-quarterly reports on operations as well as provided explanations and answers to the 
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members’ questions. At the November meeting, the Management Board assessed the 
operations until the end of the year.   

At its regular annual meeting held on 28 February, the Supervisory Board acknowledged the 
report of the independent auditor and approved the 2006 Annual Report along with the 
proposed allocation of the accumulated profit. The Audit Committee took part in the 
examination of the Annual Report.  

The Supervisory Board focused on active monitoring and supervision of the major strategic 
processes of the past year, such as the start of an intensive cycle of investments in port 
infrastructure and equipment, establishment of a network of land terminals, entry among 
railway operators, and soliciting of new business in the developing car industry in Central 
Europe. To this end the Supervisory Board supported the decisions of the Management 
Board on the establishment of new companies, investments in the purchase of holdings, and 
new investments in property, plant and equipment.  

At the first session (which was a correspondence session), the Supervisory Board approved 
the establishment of the company Adria Terminali, d.o.o., which is managing the European 
Distribution Centre in Sežana. It also issued approval of the co-founding of the company for 
the distribution of steel car products - POS ESDC, d.o.o., and a limited liability company in 
Croatia. In July it approved the co-founding of Tehnološko okoljski center, d.o.o., and in 
November also of the companies Adria Pro, d.o.o. and Luka Koper Deutschland GmbH as 
well as a company producing alternative energy. The parent company’s holdings in individual 
established Group companies are presented in the chapter Company Profile.  

In November, in the scope of the establishment of a hinterland terminal network, the 
Supervisory Board agreed with the acquisition of land for the terminal in Divača and for the 
transport logistics centre in the Prekmurje region. It supported further activities for the 
establishment of logistics centres in Hungary and the co-founding of Rail Port Arad S.r.l., 
which will establish a container terminal in Romania. In addition, it approved the capital 
increase of Adria Terminali, d.o.o. in the amount of EUR 1.5 million.  

In February, the Supervisory Board supported the disposal of 44,279 shares of Banka Koper, 
d.d. and the sale of a 26% interest in Actual IT, d.o.o., and in March the acquisition of a 
holding in Splošna plovba, d.o.o., which did not take place.  At the May meeting, the 
Supervisory Board also approved the increase in the capital of Golf Istra, d.o.o., as a result 
of which a 20% holding was preserved.  

On the basis of available data, the Supervisory Board assessed that the proposed 
investments in property, plant and equipment were justified and consistent with the strategic 
development orientations. It therefore agreed with the Management Board on these 
investments. This also included the approval of the purchase of 25 railway wagons and the 
support of the Management Board’s decisions on investing in the new activity of the 
Company, namely its own railway transport.  

At its 18th meeting, the Supervisory Board set the bonus for the Management Board due to 
its successful performance in 2006, equalling six gross salaries.  

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board  

In 2007, the remuneration of the Supervisory Board changed according to the resolution 
passed by the General Meeting of Shareholders. This is described in more detail in the 
Report on Corporate Governance. Information about the receipts of the Supervisory Board 
members is presented in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Report.  

Approval of the Annual Report and Opinion on the Auditor’s Report  

The Supervisory Board discussed the Annual Report of Luka Koper, d.d. and the Luka Koper 
Group for 2007, along with the proposal of the Management Board on the allocation of 
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accumulated profit at its 23rd regular meeting, held on 9 April 2008. It also acknowledged 
the Auditor’s Report and had no comments with regards to it.  

By examining the Annual Report, the Supervisory Board established that reporting about the 
operations of Luka Koper, d.d. and the Luka Koper Group had been clear and transparent, 
and presented a true and fair view of their business position. Thus, it unanimously approved 
the Annual Report of Luka Koper, d.d. and the Luka Koper Group for 2007.  

Proposed Allocation of Accumulated Profit in 2007  

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the Management Board’s proposal on the 
allocation of accumulated profit is in line with the strategic development orientations until 
2015 and considers the interest of shareholders with regard to a long-term increase in share 
value.  

It proposes to the General Meeting of Shareholders to allocate accumulated profit in the 
amount of EUR 25,554,194.12 as follows:  

• EUR 7,700,000.00 to dividends,  
• EUR 135,000.00 to participation in profit by the Supervisory  Board members,  
• EUR 5,185,000.00 to other revenue reserves, and  
• decision on the allocation of EUR 12,534,194.12 of other accumulated profit  is to be 

adopted in the following business years.  
 

On the basis of the implemented strategic development steps and disclosed performance 
results, the Supervisory Board estimates the work carried out by the Management Board in 
2007 as good.  

It proposes to the General Meeting of Shareholders to grant discharge from liability to the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board based on the Annual Report of Luka Koper,  

d.d. and the Luka Koper Group as well as the Auditor’s Report and this Report.  

The Supervisory Board thanks the Management Board and employees of the parent company 
and other companies from the Luka Koper Group for very good achievements in 2007, and 
offers its support in the implementation of set business and strategic goals in 2008. 

 

Boris Popovič,  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Luka Koper, d.d. 
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COMPANY PROFILE OF THE PARENT COMPANY LUKA 
KOPER, D.D. 

 

ORGANISATION OF THE LUKA KOPER GROUP AS AT 31 
DECEMBER 2007  
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REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
Efficient and transparent achievement of strategic goals   

Corporate governance of Luka Koper, d.d. and the Luka Koper Group is based on best 
practices established in Slovenia and internationally. Of key importance are, in addition to 
the applicable legislation and internal organisational rules and regulations, the Corporate 
Governance Code for Joint Stock Companies and the recommendations of the Association of 
Supervisory Board Members.   

Management system  

In line with its two-tier management system, Luka Koper, d.d. is managed by the 
Management Board, which is supervised by the Supervisory Board appointed by the 
Company‘s General Meeting of Shareholders. The management bodies of the Company act in 
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code for Joint Stock Companies and the 
recommendations of the Association of Supervisory Board Members.   

General Meeting of Shareholders  

The shareholders exercise their rights set in the Companies Act at the General Meeting of 
Shareholders, which is the supreme body of the Company. The competences of the General 
Meeting of Shareholders and other matters directly related to it are defined in the Articles of 
Association of the Company. The Articles of Association are published in their entirety on the 
website www.luka-kp.si.   

Convening the General Meeting of Shareholders  

As a rule, the Management Board convenes a General Meeting once a year in June or July. 
The convening of the General Meeting of Shareholders is announced to all shareholders, who 
no later than three weeks earlier receive the annual newspaper for shareholders entitled 
‚Luški delničar‘. The convening of the General Meeting of Shareholders is published one 
month earlier in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Slovenia, in the newspapers ‚Delo‘ and 
‚Dnevnik‘, in the electronic information system of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange (SEOnet), 
and on the website of the Company. The website includes material with draft resolutions, 
which is also available to shareholders also at the registered office of the Company.   

The right to participation and voting right  

Shareholders may participate in the General Meeting of Shareholders and exercise their 
voting right if they register in writing with the Management Board of the Company no later 
than three days before the General Meeting and if they are entered in the Share Register 
kept by the Central Securities Clearing Corporation (Klirinško depotna družba) on the day the 
General Meeting is convened.   

Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders  

The shareholders convened once in the past year. At the 13th General Meeting (19 July 
2007) they acknowledged the 2006 Annual Report and the Report of the Supervisory Board, 
and adopted all draft resolutions.  

• They approved the proposed allocation of distributable  profit for 2006.  
• They granted a discharge from liability to the Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board for 2006.   
• They set the amount of session fees and bonuses of the Chairman and members of 

the Supervisory Board.  
• They passed a resolution on transforming 6,860,000 preference participating no-par 

value shares with limited voting right into ordinary no-par value shares.  
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• They adopted a resolution on amendments to the Company‘s Articles of Association 
referring to the changed distribution of share capital.  

• Deloitte Revizija, d.o.o. was appointed auditor of the Company and the Group for 
2007.  

• Marjan Bezjak and Olga Franca were, on the proposal of the Republic of Slovenia, 
appointed to the Supervisory Board as shareholders‘ representatives for a four-year 
term of office.  

A challenging action was announced at the General Meeting of Shareholders. On 13 August 
2007, a lawsuit was filed to annul and contest the resolutions passed at the 13th General 
Meeting of Shareholders of Luka Koper, d.d. This is explained more extensively in the 
chapter Shareholder Value.    

Supervisory Board  

The key role of the Supervisory Board is to supervise the performance and conduct of the 
Company’s operations and, in this scope, to appoint and discharge the Management Board. 
The powers of the Supervisory Board and other issues directly related to it and its operations 
are defined in the Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board.  

Composition of the Supervisory Board  

The Supervisory Board of the Company is composed of nine members, of which six are 
representatives of the shareholders and three represent the employees. The shareholders‘ 
representatives are elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders by a simple majority and 
the employees‘ representatives by the Workers‘ Council. The members of the Supervisory 
Board are elected for a period of four years.  

In the past year the composition of the Supervisory Board changed. Due to the 
Government‘s decision on state officials‘ discharge from the supervisory and management 
boards of companies, the then Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Marko Starman, MSc., 
and the Deputy Chairman, Dr. Peter Verlič, stepped down. That same day, the General 
Meeting of Shareholders appointed Olga Franca and Marjan Bezjak as shareholders‘ 
representatives to the Supervisory Board of the Company for a four-year term of office. Boris 
Popovič was appointed as new Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Marjan Bezjak Deputy 
Chairman.  

The Supervisory Board is comprised of:  

• Boris Popovič, representative of the Municipality of Koper, Chairman employed by: 
Mayor of the Municipality of Koper functions in other Supervisory Boards: Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board of the Public Housing Fund of the Municipality of Koper  

• Marjan Bezjak, representative of the Republic of Slovenia, Deputy Chairman 
employed by: F.A. MAIK d.o.o.; Director functions in other Supervisory Boards: 
member of the Supervisory Board of the Slovene Enterprise Fund  

• Olga Franca, representative of the Republic of Slovenia, member employed by: 
Adriatic Slovenica, d.d.; Health Insurance Director  

• Metod Mezek, representative of other shareholders, member employed by: Health 
Centre Koper; Director  

• Marko Valentinčič, representative of the Funds of the Republic of Slovenia, member 
pensioner  

• Bojan Zadel, representative of the Republic of Slovenia, member employed by: 
Deputy Mayor of the Municipality of Izola  

• Tatjana Jazbec, employees’ representative, member function: Public Relations, 
independent expert   

• Robert Jerman, employees’ representative, member      function: Profit Centre Dry 
Cargoes, Technical Manager  
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• Alverino Pavletič, employees’ representative, member function: Profit Centre General 
Cargoes, Technical Manager Komisije nadzornega sveta 

 

Supervisory Board committees 

In order to increase the efficiency of its operations, the Supervisory Board established the 
Audit Committee, the Environmental Committee and the Committee for Spatial Issues.  

Due to the resignation and appointment of two new members of the Supervisory Board, the 
management of its committees changed. Thus, the function of Chairman of the Audit 
Committee was taken up by Marjan Bezjak (instead of Dr. Peter Verlič). The Environmental 
Committee was chaired by Metod  

Mezek and the Committee for Spatial Issues by Bojan Zadel. Each of the three committees 
held a meeting in 2007.  

• Audit Committee reviewed and approved the Annual Report for 2006; 
• Environmental Committee examined the material »An Overview of Luka Koper‘s 

Ecological Balance« and supported activities to reduce and restrict environmental 
impacts; and  

• Committee for Spatial Issues acknowledged the situation at the port related to spatial 
issues. 

 

Activities and resolutions of the Supervisory Board  

The Supervisory Board meets when the need arises, but at least once every three months, to 
review the operations of the Company and check the implementation of the business plan. In 
2007, the Supervisory Board met at six regular meetings and adopted decisions at two 
correspondence meetings.   

The main resolutions passed by the Supervisory Board in 2007 were:  

• review and approval of the Annual Report and a proposal for the allocation of 
distributable profit,  

• approval of sales and purchases of equity stakes and of the founding and co-founding 
of companies, and     

• approval of investments in tangible assets exceeding 5% of equity.  
 

The operations of the Supervisory Board are presented in greater detail in the Report by the 
Supervisory Board for 2007. 

 

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board  

 

Payments, reimbursements and other benefits of the Supervisory Board members are fixed 
and independent of the Company’s performance. They are detailed in the Financial Report of 
Luka Koper, d.d. in Note 4. Session fees and bonuses for the members of the Supervisory 
Board were last determined at the 13th General Meeting of Shareholders.  

For participating in a regular meeting, the Chairman and the members of the Supervisory 
Board receive a session fee of EUR 858 gross and EUR 660 gross, respectively. The session 
fee for a correspondence session equals 80% of the above amounts. The person substituting 
the Chairman is entitled to session fee set for the Chairman. Travel expenses and daily 
allowance are paid according to the regulations applying to companies.  
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Luka Koper has not introduced a system of rewarding Supervisory Board members by option 
plans. The number of shares owned by the members of the Supervisory Board is given in the 
chapter Shareholder Value. The Supervisory Board members and their related persons report 
to the Company and competent institutions all acquisitions and disposals of the shares of the 
Company or its associates. This information is published in the SEOnet electronic information 
system of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange.   

Management Board  

The main task of the Management Board is strategic management and efficient governance 
of the Luka Koper Group. The method of the Management Board‘s operation, its decision-
making procedures, and the division of areas of operations among members of the 
Management Board are defined in its Rules of Procedure.  

Presentation of the Management Board  

The Company is managed by a four-member Management Board. The five-year term of 
office of the current Management Board started in autumn 2005. On 31 December 2007 the 
Management Board operated in the following composition:  

• Robert Časar, President of the Management Board LLB He represents the Company 
and acts on its behalf independently and without restrictions in all matters, especially 
as regards relations with key stakeholders and publics, infrastructure, organisational 
and human resources, safety and security, internal audit, and legal issues.  

• Aldo Babič, MSc., Deputy President of the Management Board BSc. Econ. and MSc. 
(soc. sciences) He is in charge of marketing and sales, representative offices, and 
market and operational co-ordination between profit centres.  

• Marjan Babič, MSc., member of the Management Board     BSc. Econ. and MSc. Econ. 
He covers finance and accounting, IT, controlling, and quality control.  

• Pavle Krumenaker, member of the Management Board - employee director BSc. 
Mech. Eng., MBA in management His remit includes workers’ rights and social issues, 
maintenance, purchasing, relations with contractors and suppliers, and innovations.  

 

On the proposal of the Workers‘ Council, the Supervisory Board on 9 April 2008 discharged 
Pavle Krumenaker, which is reported in the chapter Important Events Subsequent to 
Financial Year End.  

The Management Board is presented also on the website www.luka-kp.si.   

Operations of the Management Board  

The Management Board manages the Company independently and at its own responsibility, 
representing it and acting on its behalf against third parties.  In the absence of the President 
of the Management Board, the Deputy President acts in his place. The Deputy President and 
the members of the Management Board individually represent and act on behalf of the 
Company in line with the Rules of Procedure of the Management Board.  

Each member of the Management Board is authorised to oversee a specific area of the 
Company’s operations. The Management Board has established direct and efficient 
cooperation with the executive directors.  

In 2007, the Management Board successfully managed and governed the Luka Koper Group 
and the parent company Luka Koper, d.d.  

Remuneration of the Management Board  

Payments, reimbursements and other benefits of the Management Board members are 
stipulated in the respective fixed-term Service Contracts concluded between the 
Management Board members and the Supervisory Board. The receipts of the Management 
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Board members should be composed of a fixed and a variable component. Luka Koper, d.d. 
has not introduced a system for remunerating Management Board members by option plans.  

The amounts of payments, reimbursements and other benefits of the Management Board 
members are given in the Financial Report of Luka Koper, d.d. in Note 4. The number of the 
Company‘s shares owned by the Management Board members is reported in the chapter 
Shareholder Value. The Management Board members and their related persons report to the 
Company and competent institutions all acquisitions and disposals of the shares of the 
Company or its associates. This information is published in the SEOnet electronic information 
system of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange. 

Subsidiaries comprising the Luka Koper Group in addition to the parent company Luka Koper, 
d.d.  

 
Management and governance of subsidiaries  

The successful performance of our subsidiaries is based on strategic goals and management 
guidelines defined on the level of the Luka Koper Group. So as to provide for the efficient co-
ordination and supervision of our subsidiaries‘ operations, the members of the parent 
company‘s Management Board are also members of the subsidiaries‘ General Meetings. 
Major tasks of the General Meetings of subsidiaries that should be noted include the approval 
of the annual business plan, the adoption of resolutions on the allocation of distributable 
profit, and the appointment and discharge of company directors.  

Luka Koper, d.d. also connects subsidiaries from the Group on the level of business 
functions, chiefly in development and marketing, accounting, financing, legal consulting, 
environmental protection, IT support, and human resources management.   

In 2007, the Luka Koper Group gained three newly founded companies:  

• Adria Terminali, d.o.o. provides warehousing and distribution activities in the 
emerging European regional distribution centre in Sežana.  

• Tehnološko okoljski center, d.o.o. (TOC d.o.o.), co-founded by Luka Koper, supplies 
technological and ecological research and quality assurance services.  

• Luka Koper Deutschland GmbH was founded so as to provide marketing, market and 
sales activities for the parent company.  

 

More details about the changes in subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled companies 
are provided in the Consolidated Financial Report of the Luka Koper Group.   

Internal audit  

Owing to staff changes and an attempt to provide for the most efficient placement of 
internal auditing, in 2007 it was partly and indirectly intertwined with the operations of the 
Controlling Department. Since 2006, internal auditing tasks within the Luka Koper Group 
have been carried out by an experienced internal auditor.  

External audit  
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The financial statements of the parent company Luka Koper, d.d. and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Luka Koper Group were audited in 2007 by the auditing company 
Deloitte Revizija, d.o.o. The Company follows the provision of the Corporate Governance 
Code for Joint Stock Companies stipulating that the auditor-partner should be changed at 
least every five successive years.   

 

WE ARE PROGRESSING IN ALL STRATEGIC 
ORIENTATIONS 
 

Successful implementation of the strategic goals and orientations of the Luka Koper Group, 
set out in the Business Development Strategy for the 2006-2015 period, is proven by the 
numerous achievements that will be upgraded and complemented in 2008. By realising 
ambitious goals we boost our competitive advantages. 

 

VISION, MISSION, STRATEGIC ORIENTATIONS  

 



PPoovvzzeetteekk  LLeettnneeggaa  ppoorrooččiillaa  22000077                                                            

     -    - 18

 

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY AND PLANS FOR 2008 
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ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS OF THE LUKA KOPER 
GROUP 
 

Promising diverse growth  

Testifying to the extremely successful performance of the Luka Koper Group are the 15.6% 
rise in operating revenue, 9% increase in throughput, 49% growth in net profit, and, last but 
not least, the 11% rise in the number of employees. This reflects the effectiveness of efforts 
aimed at redirecting maritime goods flows for Central and Eastern Europe and the bold 
development investments in the expansion of port and logistics activities.    

Operating revenue of the parent company account for 90% of the total operating revenue of 
the Luka Koper Group, which is why the parent company’s operations have a significant 
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impact on the Group’s performance. The analysis of the Luka Koper Group’s operations also 
presents the operations of the parent company.  

Performance of the Luka Koper Group   

 

Major categories of the Luka Koper Group’s income statement (in ‘000 of EUR)  

 

Operating revenue  

The year was characterised by a 15.6% rise in operating revenue. Average annual growth in 
the last three years stood at 17.4%. We generated EUR 122 million in operating revenue, of 
which 72% was in foreign markets. The structure of revenue by currency shows that 84% is 
accounted for by EUR and 16% by USD. The exposure to and management of currency risk 
are presented in the chapter Risk Management.  

The increase in revenue was mostly influenced by basic throughput activity, where we again 
achieved record figures. Maritime throughput of 15.4 million tonnes was 9% greater than the 
year before. The year 2007 was a turning point also as regards the strategically significant 
product groups of containers and cars, namely more than 300,000 containers and over 
500,000 cars were transhipped.  

The favourable upward trend in throughput activity also had a positive impact on the towing 
activity performed in the port pool. This activity contributed 4.4% of the Group’s revenue 
and recorded a 6% increase in the number of tows. The number of ships in the Port of Koper 
last year climbed to 2,234 and on average more than two towing operations were performed 
per ship.  

Logistics services of the hinterland terminal and hotel services round up the Group’s activity, 
although they currently represent only 1.3% of the Luka Koper Group’s revenue. The 
hinterland terminal services have only started being carried out, while the hotel activity has 
been expanding to high-class restaurants. Revenue earned by the disability company equal 
4.5% of the total revenue of the Group and exceed the 2006 figure by 15%.  

Proof of the growth in other activities of the Luka Koper Group is the share of the parent 
company’s revenue in total revenue, having decreased from 92% in 2006 to 90% in 2007.  

Operating revenue were also influenced by other operating revenue in the amount of EUR 
3.2 million, generated by the sale of some fixed assets and rewards for loading and 
unloading ships ahead of schedule. 
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Operating expenses  

The rise in throughput is reflected in a greater volume of additional activities, which 
significantly influence the increase in operating expenses. The latter amounted to EUR 98.8 
million, or 14.5% more than in 2006. The annual growth in operating expenses is one 
percentage point below the annual growth in operating revenue, which favourably impacts 
the operating result.  

The greatest increase in variable costs was that of the costs of physical services. Growth was 
also recorded in some fixed costs, for instance amortisation/depreciation, labour costs and 
environmental protection costs. The operating expenses of the parent company represent 
more than 89% of the total expenses of the Luka Koper Group.  

Costs of material  

Changes in the costs of material were characterised chiefly by throughput trends and the 
price of energy sources. Compared to the year before, the costs of material, which were also 
influenced by the monitoring of maintenance costs, rose by 34%. More details are available 
in Note 2 in the consolidated Financial Report.  

Cost of services  

These costs were 13% higher than in 2006, reaching EUR 33.9 million. The costs of physical 
services, maintenance costs, and the costs of transport services accounted for 66% of the 
total costs of services.  

The highest rise was recorded in the costs of physical services, which grew by 43% over the 
year before. The increase in the costs of suppliers of port services, in addition to the more 
extensive sea freight, is influenced by a greater volume of additional services related to 
goods, the interior transport of goods to remote warehouse locations owing to occupied 
warehousing capacities around terminals, and more numerous goods movements at specific 
terminals.   

Maintenance costs amounted to EUR  7.6 million, which is 5% less than in 2006. The costs of 
transport services varied during the year depending on the scope of fruit, vegetable and coal 
throughput to the markets of Western Europe. They were 5% higher than the 2006 figure.  

Labour costs  

These costs grew by 15% and totalled EUR 30.9 million. They account for 31% of total 
operating expenses. In September, the basic salary was raised by 5%, as salaries were 
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harmonised with the increase in the consumer price index. The rise was also due to having 
11% more employees, whose number at the end of the year equalled 1,070. More 
information about the number and structure of employees is available in the chapter 
Sustainable Development.  

Write-downs  

In 2007, depreciation/amortisation rose by 14% to EUR 16.7 million. The rise reflects 
intensive investments over the past two years. In 2007, depreciation/ amortisation 
represented 18% of the total investments made by the Luka Koper Group that year.   

Finance income and expenses, and financial result  

Finance income in 2007 reached EUR 14 million. Revenue from the disposal of financial 
investments, comprised chiefly of the sale of Banka Koper shares, stood at EUR 5.9 million.  

The largest portion of finance expenses is that of interest expense arising from loans taken 
in the amount of EUR 2.3 million. In 2007, the financial result was EUR 10.3 million.  

Profit for the period  

The Luka Koper Group generated EUR 23.4 million in profit from operations, which is 21% 
more than the year before. Taking into account EUR 10.3 million in profit from financing, 
total profit stood at EUR 33.7 million and exceeded last year’s figure by 44%.  

Taking the corporate income tax into consideration, the net profit of the Group totalled EUR 
30.9 million. Minority shareholders were entitled to EUR 741,000.  

The effective tax rate in 2007 was 8.8%. The reduction in the tax base mostly reflects tax 
benefits for investments in the economic zone and deductions for R&D investments. If the 
25% corporate income tax rate is taken into account, the effective tax rate would be 0.8% 
higher, equalling EUR 257,000. 

Operating efficiency ratio and total efficiency ratio  

Testifying to effective performance are the total efficiency ratio, namely the ratio between 
total revenue and expenses, and the operating efficiency ratio, calculated as the ratio 
between operating revenue and operating expenses. Both ratios have been increasing over 
time.   

Assets and liabilities 

Balance sheet as at 31 Dec. (in ’000 of EUR)  

 
Assets and their structure   

As at 31 December 2007, the Luka Koper Group managed EUR 461 million in assets. Of 
these assets, 91% were long-term and 9% short-term. Real estate and financial investments 
accounted for 70% of the total. The bulk of short-term assets comprised current operating 
receivables, representing 73% of short-term assets.  
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The Group’s long-term financial investments stood at EUR 173 million. The major item is 
investments in shares of Slovenian blue chip companies. Considering tax impacts and the 
situation in the capital market, long-term financial investments will be sold off in a balanced 
manner and used as a source for financing our ambitious investment plans.  

Liabilities and their structure  

Long-term and short-term liabilities account for 4% and 20% of total assets, respectively. In 
2007, short-term operating receivables grew on account of an amended financial policy 
whereby the maturity of payments was extended, and due to an increased volume of 
purchasing, mainly investments. A rise was also recorded in short-term financial liabilities, 
among which the prevailing item is short-term liabilities to commercial banks arising from 
loans taken. The portion of short-term financial liabilities increased to exceed long-term 
financial liabilities in 2007, when the Company financed the investment cycle by using more 
favourable short-term loans. More information about the maturity of liabilities is given in 
chapter Financial Management.  

Equity financing rate  

The capital of the Luka Koper Group, amounting to EUR 341 million, accounts for 74 percent 
of total liabilities. The share of capital in total assets dropped compared to the previous year 
owing to a gradual changing of the structure of liabilities in favour of cheaper debt equity. 
Financial security remains favourable, which is confirmed by a high equity financing rate. 

Cash flow  

Cash flow (in ‘000 of EUR)  

 

Financial liabilities rate  

The portion of short-term and long-term financial liabilities in total assets was 13% as at 31 
December 2007. The upward trend in financial liabilities points to the fact that the 
advantages of the financial leverage are being exploited.  

In 2007, the Luka Koper Group generated EUR 56 million in cash flow from operating 
activities. This is 49% more than in 2006. A positive impact on cash flow from operating 
activities was due to the amended financial policy of the parent company, which is reflected 
in higher liabilities to suppliers as a result of extended payment deadlines.  

Investment activities were in parts financed by sold long-term and short-term financial 
investments. Owing to their volume, the cash flow from investing activities exceeded the 
cash flow from basic activities by EUR 12 million, for which the Group acquired all additional 
sources, recognised as net cash from financing activities.  
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT  
 

Safe support to development  

Comprehensive financial management of the Luka Koper Group is organised on the level of 
the parent company, which sees to it that optimal liquidity, control, and management of 
financial risks in the Group’s companies are provided. The management of the Group’s 
financial investments is also centralised. The prevailing influence of the parent company is 
reflected in its very high shares in the Group’s balance sheet items. The total assets of the 
parent company make up 94% of the total assets of the Group, whereas its equity accounts 
for 95% of the Group’s total capital.   

Ownership aspect of financing sources  

The very high degree of security of the Luka Koper Group is mainly ensured by equity 
sources of financing, namely capital. This category of financing accounted for 74% of all 
liabilities, which is 6 percentage points less than the year before. On the Group level, we will 
in the future expand the share of cheaper debt sources of financing and thus exploit the 
Group’s financial leverage.  

 
 

In 2007, the Luka Koper Group’s financial liabilities accounted for 13% of its total assets, 
having risen by 3 percentage points compared to the year before. The low level of 
indebtedness of both the parent company and the entire Group represents solid foundations 
for financing future investments. By increasing the volume of borrowing we provide the 
conditions for a higher return on equity.  

The Group also used operating liabilities as a source of financing. These rose by 3 
percentage points and on 31 December 2007 equalled 8% of the Group’s total liabilities. This 
increase was mainly due to the amended financial policy whereby Luka Koper, d.d. extended 
the maturity of payments to suppliers, and due to the increased volume of purchasing chiefly 
resulting from investments in the Company’s core activity and development.   
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Currency structure of financial sources  

In 2007, the Luka Koper Group almost exclusively procured financing in euros. The exception 
was a loan raised by the parent company that was denominated in US dollars. This loan was 
raised to hedge the parent company’s asset item of trade debtors against currency risk. More 
detailed effects of this hedging are presented in Note 31 to consolidated financial 
statements.  

The share of foreign sources in US dollars accounted for 3% of all foreign sources of the 
Group’s financing and was 2 percentage points higher than the year before.  

Maturity of liabilities  

The change in the ratio between long-term and short-term financial liabilities was also 
caused by conditions in the banking market as short-term sources were significantly cheaper 
than long-term ones. That is why all new bank sources were short-term. A large proportion 
of the long-term financial liabilities of Luka Koper, d.d. falls due in 2008, which is why as at 
31 December 2007 these liabilities were recognised as short-term.  
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Since some short-term financial liabilities have a long-term character and because the parent 
company intends to extend all existing short-term sources as they fall due, the maturity of 
financial liabilities can in terms of contents be presented as in the chart above. In such a 
case the ratio between short-term and long-term financial sources is very different since in 
2007 short-term financial liabilities accounted for 30% of the Group’s total. 

Financial investments as a source of financing expansion of the basic activity and 
the Group’s development  

An important asset item of the Group and jointly-controlled company is assets in the form of 
long-term financial investments, namely financial investments in associates, financial 
investments in other shares and stakes, and long-term loans granted. As at the last day of 
the year they amounted to EUR 173 million. Short-term financial investments totalled EUR 
8.6 million, mainly consisting of bank deposits. More than one-half of long-term financial 
investments comprise investments in marketable securities of successful Slovenian 
companies and mutual funds.  

Financial investments represent a significant potential source of financing the planned 
intensive investment cycle. By carefully managing these investments and taking into account 
the tax aspect of their disinvestment the Group, the parent company in particular, will 
gradually transfer its financial investment balance to real investments. Thus, it will boost its 
capacity to perform basic activity and implement its development strategy.  

 
 

Such an extensive source of funds on the assets side - in the form of financial investments - 
represents a good basis for making ambitious projected investments which will in the next 
few years provide strong foundations for the constant growth in operating results. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Efficient approach to risk reduction  

The steep rise in the scope of services, the ever greater utilisation of capacities and the 
realisation of clearly set development goals are reflected in the Luka Koper Group’s diverse 
growth and its greater exposure to different types of risks.   

Identifying the type of risk, defining the level of exposure and establishing of an efficient 
system for managing risks are becoming important segments of the business policy being 
pursued through balanced co-operation between the Management Board, the Controlling 
Department, the Quality Department and other technical services. We conduct regular 
internal and external assessments and inspections of our operations. In this way we defined 
the key risks to which the Luka Koper Group is exposed. They are divided into:  

• strategic risks;  
• business risks; and  
• financial risks.  

 

Strategic risks  

The clearly defined and targeted development strategy for the period up until 2015 
significantly reduces exposure to strategic risk. The strategic orientations are helping the 
Luka Koper Group develop into a visible logistics service provider and an efficient port and 
distribution system. Successful implementation of the development strategy in the Port of 
Koper is directly influenced by adoption of the national spatial plan that is scheduled for 
2008.  

Estimate of the Management Board: strategic risks are moderate and there is a limited 
probability of opportunity losses in the Group as a result of this type of risk.  

Business risks  

The risks which are directly related to the ability to generate revenue and the planned return 
represent a series of business risks.  

Investment risks  

The investment cycle started by the Luka Koper Group in 2007 will intensify in the next year. 
Investments will be made in port infrastructure, technological upgrades and the future 
development of the activity. As a result, risks concerning investments in property, plant and 
equipment will increase as well.  

Risk control measures include:  

• the balanced planning of investments in basic port and development activity in terms 
of contents;  

• checking the economic justification of investments;  
• achieving the planned economic performance of investments; and  
• constantly improving the quality of the preparation, implementation, activation and 

monitoring of investments.  
The Management Board establishes that risks arising from investments in property, plant and 
equipment are high and at the same time feels that due to the functioning risk management 
mechanisms the probability of a loss suffered by the Group is low.  

Human resources risks  
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In spite of the state-of-the-art technical and technological equipment, the port activity 
remains labour-intensive. That is why the availability and motivation of staff are important 
factors of efficiency.  

The management of human resources risk in the section referring to the availability of labour 
was in the conditions directed by port activity trends defined as follows by:  

• a systematic approach to planning labour needs; and  
• providing for the horizontal and vertical mobility of the workforce.  

The Luka Koper Group maintains and enhances the motivation of its employees by:  

• systematic annual interviews with employees;  
• periodic measurements of the organisational climate;  
• setting up a dialogue with the employees by using various forms and tools of internal 

communications;  
• using rewards systems; and  
• putting into action various forms of additional care for employees even outside of 

working hours.   
In the opinion of the Management Board, human resources risk in the Luka Koper Group is 
moderate. Owing to systematic measures of risk management, the probability of loss in the 
Group is also moderate.   

Information system risks  

The only identified risk in the information system’s functioning refers to the method for 
providing information support services by outsourcing. A comprehensive and integral service 
in this area is supplied by Actual I.T., d.o.o. from Koper.  

The established good business practice proved by the stable functioning of the information 
system and a suitable level of IT user satisfaction considerably decreases the risk related to 
the information system’s operations.  

In 2007, Luka Koper, d.d. sold its 26% stake in Actual I.T., d.o.o. Koper. Nevertheless, the 
two companies will continue co-operating based on a partnership. We successfully completed 
the most important long-term project, namely the introduction of modern information 
support to operational processes for service implementation and marketing.  

The Management Board estimates that the described status of the information system 
ensures a low level of risk. In its opinion, the established mechanisms for controlling it limit 
the probability of damage to the Group to a low level.  

Sales risks  

Sales risks are directly related to the level of competitiveness in the provision of services in 
terms of both quality and quantity.  

In addition to basic port services of throughput and warehousing, we make sure that 
customers’ needs for additional services are met within the port system and along the entire 
logistics chain. We strive for:  

• the supervision and systematic management of customer relations (regular 
communications, proactive solving of operational issues, checking customer 
satisfaction);  

• a diversity of the port’s range of services which in the future will remain focused on 
various product groups and be upgraded by services boosting added value and 
profitability;  

• the provision of comprehensive support to customers by outsourcing other logistics 
service activities; and  

• quality and efficiency as the main competitive advantages of our service range.  
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According to the estimate of the Management Board sales risk in the Luka Koper Group is 
moderate. The likelihood of the Group suffering a loss as a result of sales risk is estimated as 
moderate since numerous activities increase its competitiveness level.  

Environmental risks  

The risk of a deterioration of environmental media (water, air or ground) is estimated as low 
by the Management Board of the Company.  

On the level of the Luka Koper Group we prepare and update lists of potential environmental 
hazards and threats to employees on an annual basis. We regularly assess the level of 
endangerment in the sense of the possibility of major accidents. The lists and assessments 
are revised once a year in the register of environmental issues within the scope of the 
environmental planning processes and the planning of employee protection.  

The risks of environmental impacts directly connected with port activities, the risks 
connected with global orientations in energy and the risks related to the amendments and 
harmonisation of new legislation are managed by:   

• regular and legally prescribed measurements carried out by authorised organisations 
(environmental measurements and measurements in the workplace);  

• regular internal supervision within the framework of the Sea Protection Department 
and Security Service;  

• implementing preventive measures specifically defined for each terminal and 
technological procedure;  

• conducting prevention exercises on a regular basis;  
• the constant training of employees;  
• taking efficient measures; and  
• the introduction of technological novelties and monitoring the implementation of 

adopted measures.  
As environmental risks are low due to the consistent measures taken, the Management 
Board is of the opinion that the probability of a loss in the Group arising from these risks is 
also low owing to the systematic measures.  

Legislative risks  

Legislative amendments and interpretation of the legislation, in particular those parts 
regulating the basic activity of the Group, are crucial elements of legislative risk.  

Fruitful co-operation and consulting with regulatory bodies in the process of introducing and 
amending legislation, along with our in-house experts, significantly reduce exposure to this 
type of risk.  

Legislative risk is assessed as low by the Management Board. The latter feels that suitable 
measures help maintain the low probability of a loss to the Group arising from such risks.   

Profitability risk  

The unresolved concession relationship between Luka Koper, d.d. and the Republic of 
Slovenia represents a profitability risk for the Group.   

Once this concession relationship pertaining to port terminal management is regulated, port 
activity will gain a stable foundation of Luka Koper’s dynamics. By increasing the scope of 
operations, the share of more profitable services and efficiently managing costs, we are 
maintaining and improving profitability despite the expected pressures to reduce the prices 
of our services.  

The Management Board believes that the profitability risk is moderate. Also moderate is the 
probability of a loss in the Group as we believe that the contents and amount of the 
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concession fee will be determined by equally bearing in mind the ownership and 
management goals.  

Financial risks  

The main financial risks experienced by the Luka Koper Group are the following:  

• fair value risk;  
• interest rate risk;  
• currency risk;  
• liquidity risk; and  
• credit risk.  

Exhaustive supervision of these risks, which is regularly carried out by the Financial 
Department at different intervals, prevents to a sufficient degree the uncertainty arising from 
fluctuations in financial categories, in particular finance income and expenses. Thus the 
designed financial policy provides solid foundations for the long-term stable operations of the 
entire Group.  

With this approach we achieved a significantly higher reality level of planned categories, in 
particular projected future cash flows, among which we highlight the minimisation of the 
possibility of extraordinary finance expenses as a result of negative movements in various 
economic categories.  

The measures for establishing and controlling financial risks are included in everyday working 
process. They provide the foundations for fast and timely responses to the changes in 
managed financial categories, which are the consequence of the presence of risks in financial 
operations.  

The results of such financial policy and the process of financial risk management provide 
more stable operations of the entire Group and enhance the trust of the Company’s owners, 
business partners and all other stakeholders co-operating with the Luka Koper Group.  

This is proved also by credit rating reports of internationally established rating institutions, 
which enable the Group companies to acquire funds under the most favourable terms.  

Fair value risk  

The Group invested 20.1% of its assets (in 2006: 14.2%) in financial investments carried at 
a fair value. The fluctuation in securities prices affects the value of these assets and 
consequently the potential capital gains on disposal.  

Accordingly, Luka Koper, d.d. which holds all the said investments, estimated the risk volume 
arising from the change in the fair value of these investments. Note 31 to the consolidated 
financial report presents the effects of different projections of the future changes in fair 
values, along with the results of a sensitivity analysis.   

On the basis of the estimated values the Management Board assessed that the exposure to 
the risk of changes in the fair value of the Company’s assets invested in financial 
investments is low, as is the probability of a related loss.  

Interest rate risk  

The greater the volume of borrowing, the greater the importance of interest rate risk owing 
to the fact that an unexpected rise in variable interest rates may jeopardise the planned 
business results of the Company.  

Financial liabilities represent 14.5% and 12.7% of the total liabilities of the parent company 
and the Group, respectively.     

The effects of expected fluctuations in interest rates are presented in Note 31 of the 
consolidated financial report.  
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In the framework of the ambitious investment cycle, which will include heavy investments in 
the Company’s core activity and the boosting of its capacities, the share of borrowing will 
rise. As a result, the Company will be more exposed to interest rate risk. That is why 
activities were launched at the level of the Company and the Group, which will be reflected 
in interest rate risk management by means of other (derivative) financial instruments. The 
objective of such a policy will in part be to neutralise the effects of changes in variable 
interest rates on finance expenses arising from interest expenses.   

Since the share of financial liabilities linked to a variable interest rate is low, the Management 
Board estimates that the exposure to interest rate risk and thus the probability of a loss due 
to changes in interest rates are low.  

Currency risk  

The introduction of the euro in Slovenia had a positive impact on companies as regards 
currency risk. This is also true of all companies in the Luka Koper Group. Thus, the parent 
company »secured« its asset items denominated in foreign currencies by stating a financial 
liability in the same currency; namely, trade debtors in US dollars. The practice of maritime 
transport is historically closely connected with the US dollar, which is why great effort was 
devoted in past years to change the currency in which services are charged. As a result, the 
share of invoiced sales in US dollars is constantly decreasing. 

 In order to secure the USD-denominated receivables, the Company has provided for internal 
protection in the form of a financial liability equalling the average monthly turnover in the 
said currency. In this way in 2007 the Company balanced a good 60% of financial effects 
arising from changes in the USD exchange rate.  

The Management Board assesses that the exposure to currency risk and thus the probability 
of a loss owing to an unfavourable movement in the exchange rate are low since the risk-
bearing foreign-currency item accounts for a mere 0.61% of the total assets of the 
Company. The effect of hedging, detailed in Note 31 of the consolidated financial report, 
further reduces this exposure.  

Liquidity risk  

The Luka Koper Group manages liquidity risk through the regular planning of cash flows for 
different maturities. Reconciliation of funds on the asset side and obligations on the liabilities 
side by maturity is crucial for assuring long-term solvency.   

By carefully planning both operating and financial liabilities we create the foundations for 
consistent compliance with agreed due dates. The regular and timely checking of deadlines 
and amounts of liabilities are adjusted with the agreed (expected) inflows. If a business 
partner fails to meet its financial obligations in due time, we draw a revolving loan that we 
use for unpredictable situations. In this way we make sure that the operating and financial 
liabilities are discharged regularly and by the deadline. This is confirmed by the credit rating 
reports issued by competent institutions which have assigned us the highest payment 
discipline estimates. We believe that by managing liquidity risk in this way we can make a 
positive contribution to better financial discipline in both Slovenia and the broader European 
economic area.  

The analysis of financial liabilities by maturity shows that all short-term financial liabilities of 
the parent company will fall due in 2008. According to the business plan, the Company will 
renew them as these liabilities can already be characterised as long-term ones. Long-term 
liabilities in the amount of EUR 6.2 million will fall due at the start of 2009.  

Long-term solvency is provided by reliable operations and efficient asset management. 
Investments planned in the upcoming period will significantly impact on the Company’s 
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solvency, which is why we will make sure that suitable sources (own and borrowed) for 
financing these investments are acquired in due time.  

The Company’s Management Board estimates that the exposure to liquidity risk and thus the 
probability of a loss arising from a potentially unbalanced liquidity position are low.  

Credit risks  

The risks of customers failing to fulfil their contractual obligations by the prescribed deadline 
or so-called credit risks are identified promptly. Suitable measures are set up for the 
collection of operating receivables.  In this way we provide protection against uncertain 
payments, which could hinder future cash flow projections.  

The uncertainties about counterparties’ fulfilment of obligations could lead to additional 
borrowing and financing costs. To this end, we introduced additional collection activities in 
2007. Only by the regular and prompt reminding of defaulters and consistent charging of 
default interest do we maintain a relatively high-level payment discipline of our customers.  

When entering into new deals with unknown companies, we check the customer’s credit 
rating. On this basis we make further business decisions. The operations of the parent 
company are connected with the specific structure of our customers as we mostly do 
business with intermediaries, i.e. forwarding companies and agents.   

A much lower volume of receivables arises from direct business relations with end purchases. 
As a result of the specific structure of our customers, the credit risk exposure is lower since 
the intermediaries’ customer portfolio is very diversified. A special characteristic of our 
operations is the liens we arrange regarding warehoused goods, which can be used for the 
collection and recovery of the customer’s obligations in the case of a default.  

Some types of receivables are secured separately by security deposits. Financial investments 
include loans collateralised by at least blank bills of exchange and other (im)movable 
property. Such collection activities and the required collateral are also reflected in the low 
percentage of impaired assets, i.e. in 2007 only 0.47% of total assets of the Company (in 
2006: 0.56%). Collection procedures are underway for all impaired assets, including before 
the courts.  

We estimate that the credit quality of the Company’s other (outstanding and non-impaired) 
assets is good.  

In line with the above, the Management Board of the Company feels that the credit risk is 
low as is the probability of a loss arising from it.  
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Estimate of exposures to various types of risks  

 

 

INVESTMENT POLICY 
Ambitious and promising investments  

In 2007 the Luka Koper Group strategically intensified its investment activities by making 
heavy investments in port infrastructure, technologically updating equipment and making 
investments in the future development of the activity. A record EUR 93.8 million was 
allocated to investments in property, plant and equipment, which accounts for 77% of 
operating revenue. The bulk of such investments were realised by the parent company Luka 
Koper, d.d. namely in the amount of EUR 91.8 million.  

 
 

The strategic development orientations set an ambitious investment policy which will also be 
pursued in the future. In this framework, the majority of funds were for investments aimed 
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at boosting the capacity and modernising the equipment and devices for throughput and 
warehousing services as well as for investments in hinterland terminals and development.  

Investments in the basic port activity  

Investments in the upgrading of equipment and boosting of equipment capacity are 
necessary for managing an ever greater volume of port throughput. Major investments made 
in equipment and to increase capacity in 2007 included:   

• the start of construction of six tanks (each of 20,000 m3) with all installations and 
infrastructure for the acceptance, warehousing and shipment of oil derivatives;  

• the renovation of older warehousing facilities and arranging of warehouse areas to 
provide for more efficient warehousing services;  

• the purchase of a 40-tonne mobile port crane due to the greater volume of iron 
product turnover;  

• terminal semi-trailers for the transport of containers and terminal tractors for 
transporting semi-trailers across the entire port area;  

• the purchase of two RTG cranes for managing container throughput; and  
• fork lifts with different bearing capacities for the more efficient management of the 

throughput of various product groups.  

 
The car terminal at the Port of Koper is one of the largest and best equipped in the 
Mediterranean. However, warehouse area needs to be increased so that a greater number of 
cars can be stored there. In 2007, the Ministry of the Environment and Spatial Planning 
issued us a building permit for the new warehouse for cars in the approximate vicinity of the 
parking garage. The facility will comprise a ground floor, four storeys and a drive-on roof. It 
will take up to about 22,000 cars. The warehouse will be constructed in phases. Currently, 
the first phase is underway, which will provide 2,750 parking places. The facility will be 
connected to the shore by a bridge so that the main radial road to Luka Koper will be by-
passed.   

Investments in port infrastructure  

Extension of pier I  

Container throughout at Luka Koper has been rising steeply in the last few years. The 
existing container capacities of the Port of Koper do not meet the demand nor are they 
optimal as regards technology. To provide a medium-term solution, we drafted a plan to 
extend pier I for which we acquired a building permit in September 2007. The existing shore 
of the container terminal will be one-third or 146 metres longer. In this way, the terminal will 
gain an additional mooring and new hinterland area for container throughput. The 
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investment will be completed in 22 months and make it possible to double the container 
throughput.   

Investments in development  

Investment activities were in line with the applicable strategy focused on various 
development projects. We would like to highlight the investment in the first hinterland 
logistics centre in Sežana, the investment in railway wagons and the investment in the 
passenger terminal.  

The European distribution centre in Sežana  

Owing to development needs and so as to clear up some area within the port, Luka Koper 
decided to build and develop a transport logistics centre, namely the European distribution 
centre in Sežana. The logistics and distribution activity which we will develop in Sežana 
provides an opportunity for the entire Karst region. For this purpose, we purchased land and 
other real estate in 2007 and founded the company Adria Terminali, d.o.o. which manages, 
markets and develops the existing capacities. With this purchase the Luka Koper Group 
started developing the network of the transport logistics centre, which will function as the 
backbone of its logistics system.  

Purchase of railway wagons  

The increase in turnover brought about some spatial problems for Luka Koper which can be 
curbed by greater cargo removals from the port. In this respect, railway transport is 
essential. In December, we bought 25 Rgs wagons for transporting containers, timber and 
other bulk goods along with a road-rail locomotive for moving wagons over industry sidings. 
We will also continue purchasing wagons in 2008. Via Adria Transport, d.o.o. we will acquire 
three locomotives.  

Passenger terminal  

In the scope of the maritime passenger terminal project we purchased a building in which 
we will arrange everything necessary for the passenger terminal. In 2008, activities will be 
geared at determining the most suitable institutional form for the development and 
management of the passenger terminal. 

Plans for 2008  

 

In 2008, the Luka Koper will continue pursuing its intensive investment policy. EUR 144 
million will be earmarked for investments in property, plant and equipment, mainly for 
upgrading and updating the throughput and warehousing capacities.  

Investments in the basic port activity  

Investments made to update and upgrade capacities are necessary if we want to seize major 
market opportunities. They are also necessary for improving the structure of throughput by 
expanding the share of containers and cars, and for improving productivity so as to obtain 
additional services with greater added value. Major investments in the equipment and 
facilities of profit centres in 2008 will include:  

• the construction of a warehouse for cars;  
• the purchase of two Post panamax container cranes;  
• the acquisition of a Transtainer and two manipulators for container throughput;  
• the arrangement of a warehouse for the PC General Cargoes;  
• the construction of a new TH hall for managing dry cargo; and  
• a combined machine for iron ore throughput.  
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Investments in port infrastructure  

In order to boost operational efficiency and quality, some major investments will be made in 
the port infrastructure:  

• the construction and reconstruction of railway infrastructure to allow a suitable 
connection of the existing and new shores; 

• further implementation of the project for extending pier I at the container terminal;  
• a road connection with the new entrance to Luka Koper- in May 2008 the connection 

with the motorway network will be finally constructed; and Luka Koper must arrange 
the new entrance to the port and suitable internal road connections.  

 
 

Investments in the network of hinterland logistics centres  

Terminals in Slovenia  

We will continue expanding the activities in Sežana and Divača via the company Adria 
Terminali, d.o.o. and upgrade them with other logistics centres. Two major centres are 
located in the Pomurje and Podravje regions.  

Terminals in Europe  

As far as the logistics terminals are concerned, our business development focuses mainly on 
Eastern markets and Adriatic ports.  

We see significant opportunities in the terminal close to the Romanian town of Arad, where 
we have already defined strategic business partnerships for suitable capital and 
infrastructural investments. Similar talks about co-operation have been initiated in the 
Hungarian market with reference to the development of a multimodal container and hub 
terminals and a terminal for the establishment of a distribution centre in Zahony.  

Activities aimed at creating business connections will also be promoted in Bulgaria. In 
addition, we will strive for a closer connection with the river port in Serbia. 
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MARKETING:  

PRODUCT GROUPS AND MARKETS 
New markets and a surge in strategic cargoes  

Besides the exceptional growth in throughput, 2007 witnessed significant strategic progress 
towards the consolidation of logistics services, increasing the volume of cargoes with added 
value and expanding activities in new markets. This is, among other things, confirmed by the 
project of constructing a distribution centre in Sežana, the plans for the establishment of a 
container terminal in Arad, Romania, the expansion of the network of hinterland logistics 
terminals and opening new representative offices in strategic markets of South-East Europe 
and the Far East.   

Marketing strategy 

The marketing strategy aimed at increasing the volume of logistics services and additional 
services in relation to goods and the development of the port activity was implemented by a 
series of activities, which included: 

• the introduction of the service range provided at the land container terminal and the 
distribution centre in Sežana;  

• preparation for marketing the service supplied by a private organiser and a provider 
of railway transport through the company Adria Transport, d.o.o.;  

• regular communications, the proactive solving of operational issues and checking of 
customer satisfaction within the scope of the systematic management of customer 
relations;  

• setting up and nurturing contacts with customers by organising various events for 
customers and appearing at trade fairs;  

• preserving the diversity of the port’s service range and upgrading it with services 
which raise profitability (ripening of bananas in fruit cold storage, filling and emptying 
of containers, stencilling, painting and protection of wood at the timber terminal);  

• supplying comprehensive support to customers in co-operation with other providers 
of logistics services within the scope of individual activities; and  

• enhancing quality and efficiency as competitive advantages of our range. 
 

Maritime throughput  

 Maritime throughput continued growing at a 9% rate and exceeded last year’s figure by one 
million tonnes. 

 

It is particularly important that the increase in throughput was mostly due to the higher 
container, general cargo and car throughput. These are strategic cargoes which are very 
profitable and among the most acceptable from the environmental aspect (in particular, 
perishable goods within general cargoes). Thus, the threshold of 300,000 twenty-foot 
equivalent units (TEU) and 500,000 cars throughput was exceeded in 2007.  
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Besides the projected marketing activities, the growth in throughput is also the consequence 
of favourable trends in global trade and the redirecting of cargo to Southern European ports 
owing to the over-saturation of Northern European ports. The upward trend will continue. 

The structure of throughput by market 

In spite of the rise in throughput, the share of individual markets in the throughput structure 
did not change much compared to previous years, which means that the volume of 
throughput has been growing almost proportionately in all key markets. The Hungarian 
market deserves special mention, having accounted for a throughput of 1.3 million tonnes of 
goods in 2007, which is the biggest volume so far. This indicates the continuation of the 
positive trend in throughput seen since 2003, indicating an average increase of 30% 
annually.  

 
 

With a 29% share or 4.4 million tonnes of throughput the Slovenian market remains one of 
the most important ones. It is followed by Austria with 4 million tonnes, and Italy, Hungary 
and Slovakia.  

The structure of throughput by product group  

Goods travelling through the port are classified in the five product groups shown in the table 
below, depending on the method of transport and throughput. In comparison with 2006, the 
share of dry and bulk cargoes in the total decreased while the share of general cargo, 
containers and cars grew.  

Throughput quantity (in tonnes)  

 
Containers: 40% growth  

Container throughput recorded excellent results. This is confirmed by the 40% annual 
growth and the 305,648 TEU throughput.  
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This growth is largely attributed to the increasingly more market-oriented activities, and the 
greater visibility of Luka Koper and the Northern Adriatic transport route. The escalation of 
goods flows through our port is also accelerated by favourable trends in global trade:  
economic growth in China and India, and the supply of components and semi-products from 
the Far East to the car industry in new EU member states.  

The majority of containers still involve throughput for the Slovenian and Hungarian markets; 
however, the five-fold increase in throughput for Slovakia is very important. The Austrian 
market slid to fourth place but nevertheless recorded an 11% rise. Throughput for the 
German market rose by 45%.  

Comparison of container throughput in four major markets (in TEU)  

 
In 2007, we co-operated with more than 30 container ship operators, all of whom 
experienced a higher turnover. Many of them predict that capacities will increase along with 
the use of larger ships on lines to the Far East. That is why the completion of pier I 
extension is of the utmost significance, as only in this way will we be able to welcome ships 
with a capacity of up to 8,000 TEU and double the area available for warehousing at the 
terminal. We also plan to improve throughput in 2008 by strengthening the railway service of 
block connections and own investments in the faster shipment of goods by railway.  

General cargoes: record year  

A jump was recorded in general cargo throughput, which leapt by 36% compared to 2006 
and reached 1,607,027 tonnes. General cargo is transhipped at four terminals of the Port of 
Koper:  

• a fruit and perishable goods terminal;  
• a timber terminal;  
• a terminal for (other) general cargo;  
• a livestock terminal.  

 

Throughput rose mostly due to the throughput of steel products for the car industry from the 
Far East and the countries of Eastern Europe, and a record throughput of sawn wood.  



PPoovvzzeetteekk  LLeettnneeggaa  ppoorrooččiillaa  22000077                                                            

     -    - 40

 

The basic reason for the rise in steel throughput was the decision of the world’s third largest 
steel and steel product manufacturer - the Korean multinational Posco -to choose our port as 
a point of entry and distribution centre for supplying car factories in Slovakia and the Czech 
Republic. Together with the said company and two other Korean companies Luka Koper, d.d. 
founded a logistics company POS ESDC, d.o.o. (Posco Europe Steel Distribution Center) and 
laid the foundations for long-term co-operation.  

Timber throughput surged by as much as 19%. A record 687,416 tonnes was the 
throughput, which equals 1.1 million of m3 of timber. Even though the capacities for 
warehousing timber are poorer on account of the new storage and throughput facilities being 
constructed, we plan to accelerate the throughput of warehoused timber to preserve the 
existing volume of throughput. In the future we do not expect the throughput to decrease 
since the demand for construction wood in the markets of Northern Africa and the Persian 
Gulf remains high.  

 
The throughput of fruit, vegetables and other perishable food products remained at the 
same level as in 2006. We forecast a rise in this segment owing to our efforts as well as the 
expansion of the additional service range. Among other things, we constructed two cold 
storages where we package peppers for retail chains in Austria and Germany. To provide for 
the uninterrupted supply of European markets with these food products, we strengthened 
co-operation with all those participating in the transport route - from local forwarders to 
inspection services - and increased warehousing capacities in the port. 

 Important growth was also achieved in container stuffing and stripping. Since the cargo 
transported in containers is ever more diverse, e.g. dry cargo, cars and timber, this service 
will in the future represent an even greater source of income.  

Vehicles: the threshold of 500,000 vehicles was exceeded  

We put a special stamp on the very successful year by exceeding the threshold of half a 
million throughput cars. We reached a record figure of 522,800 or 31% more than the year 
before. Thus, we rank among the largest car terminals in the Mediterranean.  
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In 2008, throughput will rise by at least one-tenth, especially due to greater demand in the 
Russian market, the construction of new car factories in Eastern Europe and the introduction 
of a new maritime line between Koper and Spain. The necessary new warehouse areas will 
be acquired as the new warehouse is completed and new outdoor storage premises are 
leased.  

Liquid cargoes: fully utilised capacity  

The liquid cargo terminal also recorded a positive trend in the performance of key product 
groups. Turnover rose by 9%. The slight increase in liquid cargoes was accompanied by a 
notable growth in oil derivatives.  

 
The existing terminal capacities are fully utilised. By March 2008 the tanks will be ready for 
implementing a new deal involving airplane fuel. The terminal will continue to be marketed 
mainly based on long-term commercial partnership contracts and new customers will be 
attracted as capacities are upgraded.  

 

Dry bulk cargo: at the 2006 level  

The total quantity of dry bulk cargo stagnated at the 2006 level. This is in line with the 
strategic policy of preserving the scope of dry bulk cargo and boosting the quantity of 
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containers, vehicles and general cargoes. The throughput of dry bulk cargo is conducted at 
two terminals:  

• the dry cargo terminal; and  
• the European energy terminal.  

Throughput at the dry cargo terminal dropped mainly due to the poor wheat crop in 
Hungary. However, we transhipped a record 635,000 tonnes of soy. We also expect such a 
quantity in 2008 as well. The alumina throughput will be somewhat lower since the key 
customer has been increasing the share of recycled aluminium in its production. We plan to 
enhance the throughput and warehousing capacities by investing in the hall for grain 
throughput and a new lift at the dry cargo mooring.  

 
The European energy terminal recorded no significant increase in turnover. Even though the 
potential of the bulk cargo throughput (iron ore, coal, biomass) is very great in European 
markets, we will maintain the quantities at the same level in 2008 owing to spatial 
limitations.  

 

BUSINESS EXCELLENCE 
 

The only port in the world with the ISO 22000:2005 standard for ensuring safe 
food products  

Excellence is one of the foundations on which the business policy of the Luka Koper Group’s 
companies rests. The business excellence model is systematically applied in everyday 
practice, which is reflected in the results achieved in the past five years.   

The existing standards and novelties in 2007  

The introduced requirements of various standards (from the ISO family and others) make up 
a comprehensive management system which provides for the excellence of operations in all 
areas and at the levels of the Company, unit and individual, down to the lowest level.   

Luka Koper has obtained certificates for all introduced standards, namely:  

• the ISO 9001 quality management system certificate;  
• the ISO 14001 environment management system certificate;  
• the ISO 22000 food safety management system certificate (which includes the HACCP 

system); and  
• a non-GMO certificate for handling non-genetically modified cargo.  



PPoovvzzeetteekk  LLeettnneeggaa  ppoorrooččiillaa  22000077                                                            

     -    - 43

 

All standards, except the latest ISO 22000:2005 have been integrated in all business 
processes and organisational units, including in the subsidiary companies Luka Koper INPO, 
d.o.o. and Luka Koper Pristan, d.o.o.  

The novelty in 2007 was the ISO 22000:2005 standard for a safe food management system 
which was issued to five terminals of Luka Koper, d.d.: general cargoes, fruit, dry cargoes, 
liquid cargoes and the container terminal, which among other things that boasts a food 
safety standard and the only international port holding such a certificate.  

Comprehensive and mutually connected systems  

Various systems and models have been systematically and gradually introduced into the 
Company’s operations and they have been linked to form an integral unit.   

All operational guidelines and standard requirements are included in the Management Rules 
of Procedure. This is an umbrella document of the parent company, defining the business 
policy, organisation, business processes, and elements of management and quality 
assurance for all Group companies. It provides the basis and guidelines enabling all 
employees to continually train themselves and constantly improve the Group. This document 
presents and proves to customers, certification institutions and other interested publics that 
we are committed to the constant improvement of our operations.  Our long-term orientation 
to business excellence is demonstrated by the fact that we received the award of the 
Republic of Slovenia for business excellence and were among the finalists applying for the 
European Business Excellence Award in the past few years.  

 

 

Plans for 2008  

• Preparing for the external certification assessment and undergoing this assessment to 
obtain the OHSAS occupational health and safety certificate.  
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• Setting up an integral system for monitoring the performance of the Company and its 
profit units by means of balanced indicators.  

• The introduction of the quality management system according to ISO 9001 in the 
subsidiary company Adria Terminali, d.o.o.  

 

SHAREHOLDER VALUE 
 

The highest share price since shares were listed   

One of the records registered by Luka Koper in 2007 was the share price of Luka Koper, d.d. 
the highest since the share has been listed on the Ljubljana Stock Exchange. In addition to 
good business results and promising plans for the expansion of activity, this was also thanks 
to the improved visibi lity of the Company and the Group among foreign investors.   

In one year the share gained 87.7% and in terms of total trading, ranked fourth on the 
Ljubljana Stock Exchange. The share of Luka Koper, d.d. is included in the first listing on the 
Ljubljana Stock Exchange under the symbol LKPG. 

Ownership structure 

At the end of the year, the Company had 13,367 shareholders or 36% more than the year 
before. At year-end, the 10 largest shareholders owned 75.89% of all shares of Luka Koper, 
d.d. The largest shareholder remains the Republic of Slovenia, holding a 51% stake. 

Ten largest shareholders as at 31 December 2007 
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Share ownership by members of the Supervisory Board and the Management 
Board  

As at 31 December 2007, shares of Luka Koper were owned by the following members of the 
Supervisory Board:  

 
Other members of the Supervisory Board did not own any shares in the Company as at that 
day. The following members of the Management Board owned shares of Luka Koper as at 31 
December 2007:  

 
The President and Deputy President of the Management Board did not hold any shares in the 
Company.  

Changes in the LKPG share price 

The upward trend started when the share was transferred for its first quotation in December 
2006 and reached a peak on 9 August with a record EUR 113.66. In the second half of the 
year the share price started sliding so that at the end of the year the share price stood at 
EUR 88.76. Nevertheless, in one year the share price rose by 87.69% and exceeded market 
growth since the SBI20 index increased by 73.5% within a year. The changes in the Luka 
Koper share price basically mimicked the stock exchange movements, which in the first half 
of the year recorded fast growth in the prices of the most traded shares and a slowdown in 
autumn.  

In 2007, turnover in Luka Koper shares totalled EUR 144,597,030.84. There were 15,796 
stock exchange transactions and lot transactions, while 1,709,731 shares changed owners.  

Book value of a share  

The share book value, calculated as the ratio between average capital and the number of all 
shares issued, was EUR 21.91 as at the last day of the year.   

No-par value shares and change of share class 

Based on the resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders, on 1 January 2007 the 
shares of Luka Koper, d.d. were transformed into no-par value shares. Thus, the share 
capital was divided into 7,140,000 ordinary no-par value shares and 6,860,000 preference 
participating no-par value shares with limited voting rights. At the 13th General Meeting of 
Shareholders (AGM) held on 19 July 2007 a resolution was passed on the transformation of 
6,860,000 preference participating shares with limited voting rights into ordinary no-par 
value shares. As a result, the number of ordinary shares changed to 14,000,000. The share 
capital of Luka Koper, d.d. is divided into 14,000,000 ordinary registered freely transferable 
no-par value shares. 
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The resolution of the AGM on the share transformation and the related amendments to the 
Company’s Articles of Association were entered in the register of companies kept by the 
competent court. After the entry of the amendments to the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the shareholders who at the AGM announced they would challenge the 
resolutions of the AGM filed legal proceedings with the competent court to contest the 
resolutions on the share transformation. Based on the resolution of the AGM and the 
registered amendments to the Articles of Association, we filed an application for expanding 
the listing by transformed shares with the Ljubljana Stock Exchange. This expansion will be 
effected when the resolution is passed by the Committee for the Admission of Securities and 
once a suitable procedure is carried out at the Central Register of Dematerialised Securities 
kept by Klirinško depotna družba (Central Securities Clearing Corporation). 

In the period between submission of the application for expanding the listing to the Ljubljana 
Stock Exchange until the actual expansion, the Company was informed about the court’s 
temporary injunction on the expansion of the listing until the court has made a final decision 
about the lawfulness of the AGM resolutions passed on 19 July 2007. 

Luka Koper, d.d. complied with the demands of the court and instructed the Ljubljana Stock 
Exchange to stop the procedure for expanding the listing. The competent court ruled in 
favour of the Company’s appeal against the court’s resolution granting the request of the 
proposers for an injunction so it repealed the injunction which prohibited the expansion of 
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the listing on the Stock Exchange. The Company will continue the listing expansion 
procedure as prescribed by the applicable legislation. 

Dividend policy 

As a rule half of net profit goes to dividends. At the 13th General Meeting held on 19 July 
2007 the shareholders confirmed gross dividends for 2006: EUR 1.09 per ordinary share; and 
EUR 0.27 per preference participating share. The gross dividend for 2007 is projected at EUR 
0.55. 

 

Key data about the LKPG share in the past three years 

 

 

Cross-linkages with other companies 

The companies in which Luka Koper, d.d. holds at least a 5% stake and the companies 
which own shares of Luka Koper, d.d. (31 December 2007) are: 

 

 

Shareholders holding at least 5% of the LKPG shares as at 31 December 2007: 

• Republic of Slovenia (51%); 
• Slovenska odškodninska družba, d.d. (11.13%); and 
• Kapitalska družba and its funds (5.11%). 

There were no cross-linkages.  

Treasury stock, authorized capital, conditional capital increase 

In 2007 the Company had no treasury stock. 
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The applicable Articles of Association of Luka Koper, d.d. do not provide for a category of 
authorised capital up to which the Management Board could increase the share capital. In 
2007 the Company had no basis for a conditional increase in its share capital.  

Rules on restrictions on trading and the disclosure of trading in shares of the 
Company and associates  

We have not yet formulated special internal rules to regulate restrictions on trading in the 
Company’s shares. 

However, we co-operated with the Ljubljana Stock Exchange in preparing the Rules on 
Trading in the Company’s Shares which will set the standard in this area and are expected to 
enter into force in 2008. 

 

 
 

OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 
 

Accessibility and timely response   

The Luka Koper Group provides the highest possible accessibility of information that is 
important for the professional and general public. We continuously inform the widest circle of 
interested parties about our operations, plans and novelties. The key issues which required 
special communication efforts were the following:  

• activities related to the establishment of a dry terminal in Sežana;  
• marking the 50th anniversary of Luka Koper;  
• the co-founding of POS-EDSC, d.o.o. with Korean partners;  
• laying of the foundation stone for pier I extension;  
• activities at the Open House Event,  
• the disposal of an equity stake in Banka Koper, d.d.;  
• completion of the contest for design solutions pertaining to the spatial arrangement 

of the port;  
• temporary organisation of the car warehousing premises; and  
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• the arrival of Veendam, the largest passenger vessel.  
 

Corporate communications  

At the corporate communications level special emphasis in 2007 was given to marking the 
50th anniversary of Luka Koper.  

In this respect, we organised events for the local and national publics, business partners and 
employees. Some of the events were an exhibition about the history and presence of Luka 
Koper at the Regional Museum in Koper, a protocol event at our oldest warehouse, and the 
Open House Event, which attracted very many visitors. We co-organised with Radio Capris 
one of the most well-attended musical events on the coast.  In addition, we issued a 
monograph presenting Luka Koper.  

 Communicating with the media  

Slovenian and foreign journalists have in the past year often shown interest in events taking 
place in and everything related to Luka Koper. We provided quick and comprehensive 
answers to various media questions. Two press conferences were organised and 34 press 
releases issued. We also regularly published news in an electronic form, available at www. 
luka-kp.si and distributed it by e-mail to more than 900 addresses, including journalists.  

Communications with investors  

The shareholders are informed about all events relevant to the Company and the Luka Koper 
Group on a regular basis and in due time. All information is available at any time in the 
SeoNet informing system of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange and on our website.  In 
compliance with the Articles of Association we publish comprehensive data about annual 
operations in the bulletin ‘Luški delničar’, which is distributed to all shareholders before the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. In 2007, communication with the financial publics was 
enhanced by our presentation at the Slovenian Capital Days in Ljubljana, Milan, Vienna, 
Stockholm, London and Zagreb.  In this way we contributed to the greater visibility of the 
parent company and intensified foreign investors’ interest in the shares of Luka Koper, d.d.  

Communication with other publics  

Communication with employees and communication about environmental issues are 
presented in greater detail in the chapter Sustainable Development. 

DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITY 
 

Incentives for new activities  

In this area 2007 was of particular importance. In line with strategic guidelines we intensified 
and systematically engaged in development and research activity.  We mainly set out the 
guidelines for our future work in this area. Innovative activity continued to be successfully 
encouraged as 15% more improvement proposals were presented.   

Research and development  

The more targeted approach to research activity was the result of the Company’s set 
strategic policies.  These policies prompted several new activities at two levels:  

• within the basic activity, in the scope of the redesigned development concept 
focusing on logistics and passenger transport; and  

• in the provision of suitable capacities, equipment and technologies, IT-communication 
support and environmental protection.  
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Our activities were also strengthened by institutional initiatives which provide ever more 
encouragement to the corporate sector to boost its competitiveness by intensifying 
investments in R&D. In order to make the best of the non-refundable funds of the EU for the 
new programming period 2007-2013 we undertook special training because we want to 
participate in international projects.  

Since most tenders will be published in 2008, in 2007 we paid attention to the following:  

•  studying conditions of individual programme funds from which we can draw 
funds;  

•  the identification of project ideas in line with our business needs and 
orientations;  

•  searching for and establishing project partnerships; and  
•  preparing project contents.  

 

 
In the next period we will compete for funds from the Community and transnational 
programmes as well as from the Structural Funds and the Cohesion Fund. We expect the 
support of authorities and individual institutions which is why in 2007 we started 
harmonising our business interests with the priority development projects of the state. In the 
framework of the Slovenian Maritime Technological Platform we applied for tenders in the 
Seventh Framework Programme where our StarnetRegio project, related to innovation and 
the development of port technologies, was approved. Luka Koper Group supports co-
operation with universities and research institutes. With their help we want to make sure 
that our experience is transferred further and we wish to develop new knowledge geared at 
sustainable development and social responsibility. More information about co-operation with 
education institutions in 2007 is available in the chapter Sustainable Development.  

Innovation activity  

The Luka Koper Group has been developing innovation activity for a number of years within 
the scope of the business excellence system. Through a comprehensive system we promote 
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and motivate employees to make proposals for improvements and innovations.  
 

The improvements are proposed by employees within their organisational units. Minor 
improvements are rewarded by the unit manager, while major innovations are addressed 
and rewarded by a commission. Improvements are proposed either by individuals or 
independent work groups within organisational units. Every proposal for an improvement is 
rewarded by a pecuniary incentive and, after successful implementation, an innovation 
bonus is paid. Once a year the commission selects the ‘innovator of the year’ who receives a 
special monetary award.  

The number of improvements is growing every year. In 2007, there were 15% more 
proposers of improvements. Employees of the Group put forward 388 proposals for 
improvements.  

The number of improvements and their proposers at the Luka Koper Group in the past three 
years  

In 2008, we plan to further boost innovations by introducing novelties for motivation and the 
rewarding of presented improvements, recording of improvements and measuring of their 
effects.   

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 

The activity of the Luka Koper Group has a strong impact on the social community as we 
provide jobs for many local people. We are closely integrated in everyday life by supporting 
various organisations and individuals. In addition, we greatly influence the special natural 
resource – the sea, to which we assure the highest possible protection.  

In 2007, the upward trend in employee numbers continued. This was due to the steep 
increase in throughput and also the newly founded company. We provided for employee 
training through in-house training events - also because only we possess certain knowledge 
in the country. The satisfaction of our employees is proved by the low absenteeism levels 
and the internal surveys on the work and organisational climate.  

We sponsor and donate funds to projects from various areas, including special projects that 
will provide for the harmonised development of common points between the port and the 
population in our immediate vicinity.  

Luka Koper is the only port in the Northern Adriatic to operate according to the ISO 9001 
and ISO 14001 standards. We are developing new methods and models for efficient 
environmental protection and management. Measurements show that gas, water and dust 
emissions along with noise and dust immissions are below the legal limits. We have set up 
the Sea Protection Department at the Group level, drafted the Plan of action and informing in 
the case of hazardous substance spills at sea, acquired the equipment to protect the sea and 
taken part in two international exercises.  

Growth is planned so that it has minimum impact on the environment. We select cargo that 
is not only more profitable but also more environmentally acceptable. Cleaner environment is 
also ensured through the greening of surrounding areas, investments in energy 
independence, and safer and cleaner technologies. When the construction of Pier I had been 
planned, we also looked after environmental values and biodiversity. The plan was presented 
to the local community, which made no comments thereon.  

We spread our environmental and social responsibility to other stakeholders - our suppliers 
and customers. We develop partnerships with competent and financially stable suppliers. We 
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have built excellent relations with all our customers and maintain them within the framework 
of the EFQM business excellence model.   

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 
 

Number of employees   

The number of employees in companies of the Luka Koper Group and the Group total:  

 
As at 31 December 2007, the Luka Koper Group had 1,070 employees, which is 11% more 
than the year before.  

We have been witnessing an upward trend in the number of employees since 2005. In 2007, 
the growth was significantly higher. The key reason for this was the need for the throughput 
of much greater quantities of goods in changed working conditions. This growth was also 
influenced by the obligation to comply with the regulations and provisions on the 
management of working hours, health protection, environmental protection, and the 
replacing of employees who retired or left for other reasons. Thus, the number of employees 
in the Group rose by 108. The rise in the number of employees was also due to the 35 
employees of the newly founded company Adria Terminali, d.o.o.  Through this company we 
will expand the activity, as the first inland terminal located in Sežana, will be established and 
managed.  

Recruitment, departures, fluctuation  

Recruitment  

In 2007, the Group employed 170 new employees, of whom Luka Koper, d.d. alone recruited 
120, 85% of whom were assigned to positions connected with the basic work process.  

At Luka Koper, d.d. 43% of all new employees have a post-secondary vocational or higher 
education. These employees occupy expert, management and middle management positions.  

The necessary staff are selected based on job applications we receive daily and through 
announcements of vacant positions. We present ourselves at employment fairs, through 
brochures and publications targeted at young people who are concluding their schooling. In 
2007, the number of job applications submitted via the online form on our website grew, 
already accounting for 15%.  

In order to fill occupations in short supply, we introduce scholarships (in 2007 we granted 
three scholarships). Besides the basic conditions, the main staff selection criterion is a 
willingness to adjust to the demands of the work process.  

Departures  

In 2007, the employment of 62 employees of the Group was terminated. Luka Koper, d.d. 
was left by 39 employees, which equals the 2006 figure. The most frequent reasons were 
regular retirement and a consensual termination of the employment contract.  

Fluctuation  
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In 2007, the employee fluctuation was 6.2%, while that of Luka Koper, d.d. was 5.1%, very 
similar to the year before. The fluctuation was higher owing to 17 disabled workers of Luka 
Koper INPO, d.o.o. who became eligible for retirement.  

Employee structure  

Structure by gender  

Owing to the nature of work (demanding conditions) and arrangement of working hours in 
shifts, there are more male employees than female employees. For the most part, women 
occupy positions in expert services and the administration of profit centres. The structure of 
employees by gender has not changed significantly over the last three years. Since 2006, the 
share of women grew by 0.5 of a percentage point from 11.4% to 11.9% in 2007.  

Structure by age and length of service  

The average age of employees has been rising in recent years, chiefly because of the high 
age structure of employees of Luka Koper INPO, d.o.o. In spite of that, it is still low in other 
companies because mainly young staff are recruited. Thus, the average age of all employees 
of the Luka Koper Group in 2007 was 44.2 years. The average age was the highest at Luka 
Koper INPO, d.o.o. (49.2 years) and the lowest at the parent company (40.3 years). The 
consequence of the older personnel of Luka Koper INPO, d.o.o. is also their longest average 
length of service.   

Average age and length of service of employees 

 
Number of employees by level of education 

 
Educational structure  

For several years Luka Koper, d.d. has been gradually and systematically replacing less 
qualified staff with employees who have a higher education level. We support training and 
educa tion and as a result the educational structure is improving. The number of employees 
with at least level VI education has grown in the past three years by 3 percentage points and 
accounted for 25% of the Groups’ employees.  

The entire Luka Koper Group recorded a downward trend in the number of employees with 
an educational level below vocational education. In the last few years we have focused on 
the recruitment of personnel with two professional profiles to perform, namely machinery 
management and maintenance works, and low and middle management functions.  

Structure of employees by type of employment  

The planned annual turnover is managed by permanent employees. Part-time employees are 
taken on mainly:  
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• for the period of long-term training and induction into work; and  
• to manage fluctuations between the planned and existing volumes of throughput 

during the year.  
 

 
 

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT: EDUCATION AND 
CAREER DEVELOPMENT OF EMPLOYEES  
Employee training and education  

The Luka Koper Group recorded 23,915 hours of functional training of its employees, which 
is on average 14 hours per employee or 8 hours less than the year before. The average 
number of training hours per employee dropped on account of:  

• an individual, systematic and selective approach to employee training;  
• predominantly active forms of education (workshops, exercises);  
• the promotion of an organisational culture whereby education is not a right, but a 

reward and added value; and  
• intensive throughput, as a result of which work obligations did not allow any long-

term absences from work since most training was conducted during working hours.  
In 2007, EUR 248,580 or EUR 101 per employee was spent on training.  

Structure of training  

 

The decline in the costs of training per employee was achieved by a high share of in-house 
training, long-term co-operation with education institutions and systematic restrictions on the 
financing of off-the-job training. In 2007, 6.8% of employees underwent off-the-job training.  

Training covered numerous areas, as shown below.  
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The share of in-house training organised by the parent company has been increasing in the 
Luka Koper Group, and reached 76%, which is 11 percentage points more than in 2006. This 
method of training is tailored to meet the goals and needs of business processes and the 
specific activity of the Group. It also follows the development of the industry. At the same 
time, we noted the in-depth transfer of knowledge between employees, that a uniform 
organisational culture was being created and a decline in costs.  

 

 
 

There are no personnel qualified to manage port machinery and cranes in the labour market, 
which is why we have to provide for their training after recruiting them. This was the first 
year that we organised the training of operative staff who will operate different machinery 
entirely by in-house personnel.  

 Since the applicable legislation prevents us from training employees of associates and 
contractors, we will next year focus on the gradual fulfilment of all legally prescribed 
conditions for obtaining a suitable training licence from the competent ministry and on 
improving the system for rewarding the practical training instructors.  

Co-operation with higher education institutions and scientific organisations  

We have been co-operating with secondary and higher education institutions in the following 
manner:  

• employees perform the functions of associate professors and assistants at the 
faculties of the University of Primorska and the University of Ljubljana;  

• we carry out topically-oriented internal projects in conjunction with faculties;  
• the employees act as mentors or co-mentors of students who are preparing seminars, 

diploma and master thesis papers;  
•  we host groups of students and higher education professors during expert 

excursions;  
•  we provide for obligatory practi cal training (in 2007, 10 pupils and  
• students underwent 1,100 hours of practical training); and  
• we provided half-year practical training to a foreign student through the Leonardo da 

Vinci programme.    
 

Human resources development  
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For the well-timed recruitment of the parent company we established a base of potential or 
replacement staff by work level, at both the level of individual units and the Company. There 
are 65 employees who could be promoted as soon as the need arises due to the work 
process or gradually when they acquire suitable experience and education.  

Employee satisfaction  

The organisational climate, loyalty and satisfaction of employees were first measured by the 
Luka Koper Group in 1997. Since then, a constant upward trend has persisted, which is the 
consequence of regular survey analyses, the presentation of results to employees at 
workshops and the co-operation of management and employees in drafting measures for 
improvement.  

The number of respondents was also higher in the last survey (57%). The employees 
expressed greater satisfaction mainly as regards the management, which we ascribe to 
investments in the intensive training of managers over the last few years. The lowest grades 
- as in all previous years - were assigned to the payment system, which is comparable to 
other Slovenian and foreign organisations.  

Measurement of employee satisfaction  

 
Absenteeism  

In 2007, employees spent 145,315 hours on sick leave. Absenteeism was at a low 6.8% in 
the past year. As presented in the table below, this figure corresponds to that for 2006. The 
low level testifies to employee satisfaction in the workplace and a smaller number of work-
related injuries, resulting in fewer costs.  

Absenteeism  

 

Occupational safety and health  

In 2007, there were 44 industrial injuries. The absence of the injured workers caused costs 
in the amount of EUR 4.17 per 1,000 tonnes of throughput. Every industrial injury is 
analysed, a report is compiled, the reasons for the resulting situation are established and, 
based thereon, measures and goals are set out to decrease the number of injuries on the 
job. The basic aim is to protect employees from negative impacts of the working 
environment and technological processes, which will be additionally limited by 
implementation of the occupational safety and health system.  

The costs of absence due to industrial injury  

 
Employees’ co-management  
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The Workers’ Council participates in management by the Company’s bodies via workers’ 
representatives on the Supervisory Board of the Company and through the workers’ 
representative on the Management Board – a workers’ director. According to the Articles of 
Association, the member of the Management Board – workers’ director represents and acts 
on behalf of the employees in relation to personnel and social issues.  

There are three representative trade unions operating at Luka Koper, d.d.: the Port 
Employee Trade Union of Slovenia, the Port Activity Union of Slovenia, and the Maritime 
Crane Operators Trade Union of Luka Koper. In 2007, the social partners at the level of the 
Company launched the intensive drafting and adoption of new corporate collective 
agreements for employees of the parent company and subsidiaries. By signing an annex to 
the Collective Agreement, in early 2008 the Company reached a social agreement with the 
Port Activity Union and the Port Employee Trade Union.  

Informing the employees  

At the Luka Koper Group, internal communications are conducted according to the principles 
defined in the criteria for achieving business excellence in line with the EFQM standard and 
other applicable quality standards. The tools of internal communication are the following:  

• The internal bulletin ‚Luški glasnik‘: monthly publication which besides current events 
within the Company and its surroundings contains information about planned 
developments and investments, professional articles and pieces on other activities 
and the success of employees.  

• The intranet, which is accessible to an ever greater number of employees; as a 
result, the website was redesigned and expanded in 2007.  

• The bulletins ‚Kratke vesti‘ and ‚Interna obvestila‘ are issued periodically and usually 
contain one page (they are available on the notice boards, e-mail and the intranet).  

An important role is played also by direct mutual informing of employees within units and 
work groups at briefings and work meetings.  

On the basis of surveys we have conducted we establish that internal communications are 
conducted well and that the employees are satisfied with the level of informing.  

Employing the disabled  

At the end of 2007, the Luka Koper Group employed 176 disabled people, of whom 156 or 
68.4% of the total worked at Luka Koper INPO, d.o.o.  

The number of disabled employees as at 31 December 2007  

 
In the past year, we paid attention to our disabled employees mainly as regards:  

• acquiring new programmes which could be implemented by the disabled;  
• expanding the possibilities of reassignment and promotion;  
• including them in motivational workshops;  
• informing and preparing them for retirement as well as obtaining suitable data from 

the Pension and Disability Insurance Institute of Slovenia;  
•  offering assistance to the disabled in solving work-related and personal problems;  
• co-operating with the Papilot Institution in disability procedures in the field of 

occupational medicine; and  
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• organising several internal and external training events.  
 

Remuneration, motivation and other employee benefits  

Stability and a successful performance ensure the social and economic security of our 
employees. The salary, which comprises a basic and a variable part, is remitted regularly and 
the employees receive a group performance bonus every quarter. We reward useful 
proposals and innovations, instructorship and other ways of transferring knowledge to 
employees as well as project work. Every year, we reward as many as up to five model 
employees, managers of the year and the quality team members. We also pay 70-90% of 
the supplementary voluntary pension premium and cover flu vaccination expenses.  

At the same time, we encourage the non-formal socialising of employees through organised 
forms of sports recreation, use of the Company’s holiday facilities and social get-togethers at 
the anniversary of the Company and New Year. We organise sports games for the employees 
and business partners, a picnic for all employees, annual social meetings within 
organisational units, events on Women’s Day, a New Year’s presentation of gifts to the 
employees’ children and more.   

Upon retirement, we pay the employees severance pay higher than the amount stipulated by 
law. Moreover, our retired employees can maintain contacts with the Company through the 
Pensioners’ Club operating within Luka Koper, d.d. which is also financed by the Company.  

We monitor the medical treatment of our employees, especially those whose treatment is 
lengthy due to a serious illness or injury. Usually, the superiors and close colleagues keep 
contact with such employees and we also help them financially. In addition, we offer 
employees assistance in solving their accommodation and social problems. Financial 
assistance has been provided to 29 employees in total.  

Goals achieved in 2007  

In 2007, the activities related to human resources were targeted at:   

• providing a rational and flexible work organisation by improving the 
microorganisation, managing working hours and implementing organisational 
changes;  

• providing a suitable number of adequate employees, promotions and employee 
rotations to ensure an uninterrupted work process;  

• introducing new approaches to obtain job candidates, in particular for operative 
positions;  

• introducing a new form of soliciting staff by co-operating with agencies;  
• following and adjusting to legislative novelties;  
• preparing and organising the necessary operations for the takeover of employees 

from BTC Terminal Sežana, d.d. by Adria Terminali, d.o.o.; and  
• launching the in-house training of port machinery drivers and crane operators.  
•  

Goals for 2008  

Human resources management goals are the following:  

• reorganising the job systemisation;  
• concluding a new corporate collective agreement;  
• providing a suitable number and type of personnel;  
• 5% employee fluctuation;  
• 100% employee participation in training; and  
• introducing an individual approach to planning employee development and training. 

 



PPoovvzzeetteekk  LLeettnneeggaa  ppoorrooččiillaa  22000077                                                            

     -    - 59

IN PARTNERSHIP WITH THE SOCIAL ENVIRONMENT 
 

Sponsorships and donations  

In 2007, the Luka Koper Group allocated EUR 1.4 million to sponsorships and donations, 
which is 187% more than the year before. This jump is a consequence of the celebration of 
the 50th anniversary, where we paid special attention to the local community. Major 
sponsorships and donations include those based on which we establish long-term partnership 
between the Group and the recipients of funds in various areas.  

One of these areas is sport:  

• Our employees value sport, as no less than 220 are active in the Sports Association 
of Luka Koper.  

• We support the clubs that are named after our Company: Luka Koper Volleyball Club, 
Luka Koper Bocce Club and Luka Koper Basketball Club.  

• We also provided support to the Koper Football Club and a tennis club at Portorož.  
• We sponsored the swimmer Matjaž Markič, the canoeist Špela Ponamarenko and the 

sailor Gašper Vinčec.  
• We made it possible for the organisers of the ‚Euroregion Running‘ project to route 

part of the marathon course across the port territory.  
• •For a number of years we have been sponsoring the Olympic Committee and we 

also supported the Skiing and Gymnastic Associations. 

 
 

In the field of culture we:  

• devoted special attention to the development of cultural activity in the hinterland, 
brining to life old cultural traditions and preserving cultural heritage;  

• have been the main sponsor of the Koper Brass Orchestra for a number of years and 
also sponsored the Primorska Summer Festival and numerous other cultural events; 
and  

• participated in organisation of the Radio Capris summer concert, the jubilee concert 
of the Faraoni band and helped set up the ‚Krasovanje‘ event in Sežana.  

 

Our donations went to:  
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• humanitarian organisations, such as associations of patients suffering from specific 
illnesses and societies providing help to people in distress;  

• the purchase of emergency vehicles for the Izola and Koper Health Centres and the 
purchase of medical equipment for the Izola General Hospital, the Institute of 
Oncology and the Medical Centre of Ljubljana; and  

• the people affected by September’s river floods in central and western Slovenia.  
 

The quality of knowledge is important for our work, which is why we support 
education institutions. Thus, in 2007:  

• we contributed to the operations of primary schools, vocational colleges, higher 
education institutions, faculties, scientific and research organisations which we helped 
purchase school equipment and teaching aids; and  

• further co-operated with the University of Primorska - we were among its initiators 
and have upgraded our position as we provide financial aid and our experts 
participate in lectures as well as in the  

 

Co-operation with the local community  

The project of the Passenger Port of Koper was in 2007 assessed by the Slovenian Tourist 
Organisation as the most creative and innovative contribution of all Slovenian tourist 
projects. We supported it when it was no more than an idea and followed up on our support 
by moving the port activity from the western part of the town. We will continue conducting 
activities related to the tourist cruise service range. Further, we will participate in the 
establishment of modern infrastructure to enhance the quality passenger transport activity 
and thus promote tourism development in the old city centre.  

We also support other projects which will bring about the harmonised development of areas 
where the port territory comes into contact with the urban environment in our approximate 
vicinity. In 2007, we provided funds for rehabilitation of the neglected small port in the Bay 
of St. Catherine in Ankaran. We also plan to build the Ankaran sports and recreational park 
by arranging the land next to the bay. We will further contribute to improve the quality of life 
in the town by relocating the main truck entrance to the port to Srmin. Project 
documentation was prepared and a public tender organised for the construction of the road 
connection with the new entrance in 2007.  

The port boasts a volunteer fire department, which we make sure is well-equipped and 
trained. The fire-fighters are ready to intervene and help at any time, not only in the port 
itself, but also in the town of Koper and the surrounding area.  

The port area is secured with a customs fence since it has the status of an economic zone. 
That is why it is not accessible to the public. The latter is often critical as it lacks knowledge 
about our activities.  

We want to enhance company visibility and in June 2007 we therefore organised the Open 
House Event. Many visitors came, almost 1,000 in a day, and 14,000 people opted for guided 
excursions. 
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CONTROLLING THE IMPACT ON THE NATURAL 
ENVIRONMENT 
 

Luka Koper is the only port in the Northern Adriatic to operate according to the ISO 9001 
and ISO 14001 standards. We already successfully introduced the environmental 
management system (ISO 14001) in 2000 and undertook to develop new methods and 
models for efficient environmental protection and management. We solve environmental 
issues in close co-operation with the competent municipal and national bodies as well as the 
local communities. We provide for environmental protection in line with the regulations of 
both the Republic of Slovenia and the European Union. The competent inspection services in 
the port regularly monitor our environmental impact. No measurements point to the legal 
limits being exceeded.  

In 2007, EUR 2.32 million was spent on environmental purposes, which equals 2% of 
operating revenue.  

Major investments in equipment were:  

• the purchase of two sea protective vessels;  
• wind protection for the iron and coal disposal site;  
• set-up of a rainwater sewage system; • oil trap installations;  
• the remodelling of vehicles to make them suitable for use in case of spills of 

hazardous substances;  
• an environmental upgrade of the transporter;  
• co-financing of the purchase of a new measurement station for determining the 

quantity of inhalable particles PM10 - it will be installed within the port; and  
• the purchase of three on-line noise measuring devices for the continued monitoring 

of noise immissions.  
 

In 2007, the studies and activities referred to below were carried out:  

• a study involving the control of air pollution from dust deposits in the area of the 
Ankaran local community for the 2006-2007 period;  

• a study on the environmental impact and toxicology value of emissions in the inshore 
sea area of Luka Koper; and  

• a study on the impact of Luka Koper’s operations on pollution and other 
environmental problems in Koper Bay, along with the proposed strategy and 
measures for environmental protection.  

The implementation of the environmental, safety and health policy is the responsibility of all 
employees. One of the Management Board members is also the management’s 
representative for the environment and is tasked with providing the harmonised functioning 
of the environmental protection system and company policy. The Environmental Protection 
and Occupational Health Department was set up and assigned to oversee environmental 
protection, safety and health at work and sea protection.  The department manager is 
authorised for environmental protection and is in charge of advising, informing the 
employees, obtaining environmental permits, monitoring, reporting and providing 
information to the public.  

Co-operation with institutions and local communities  

We annually conduct surveys so as to learn the opinions of the local population. This year 
the survey included 301 respondents and the analysis gave us a better understanding of the 
Group’s importance of in the everyday lives of the region’s population.  
In spite of the lively events and continuous rise in throughput, the respondents have a 
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positive opinion. The overall estimate of the environmental impact of port activities on a 
scale from 1 to 5 was 3.78 in 2007. The analysis did not reveal any general negative opinion 
about our operations and future, and our contribution to the economic development of the 
Municipality of Koper is positive.  

Overall estimate of the environmental impact of port activities on a scale from 1 to 5  

 
In co-operation with numerous institutions we carry out many research projects and actively 
take part in national and international projects aimed at reducing and preventing negative 
environmental impacts, i.e.: Life Cycle Assessment (ship waste), IONAS – Ionian and Adriatic 
Cities and Ports Joint Co-operation.  

Technological Environmental Centre (TEC)  

2007 saw the establishment of the Tehnološko okoljski center, d.o.o. (Technological 
Environmental Centre), of which Luka Koper, d.d. is a strategic partner. The TEC will operate 
as a market-oriented company performing technological and environmental research services 
and quality assurance. The development and work will be based on the transfer of research 
and new findings to technological practice. The Centre will conduct technological research in 
engineering and technology with a special emphasis on renewable energy sources, waste 
recovery, technologies for obtaining natural medicinal substances, sea and inland area 
ecology.   

 

 
 

Monitoring air quality  

Air quality is monitored by measurements of emissions and immissions. It is no longer legally 
prescribed that dust immissions be measured, which is why we do not report the result to 
the state authorities but we do observe the maximum recommended immission level of 
particles of 200 mg/m2 per year. Control measurements of dust deposits are carried out at 
ten measurement sites. In 2007, the limits were not exceeded, except at the measuring site 
in the approximate vicinity of the pier extension. In addition, since 2001 the Primorska 
Institute of Natural Sciences has been conducting measurements of immissions of inhalable 
dust particles smaller than 10 μm (PM10) in the immediate area of the source of immissions 
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- the bulk cargo disposal site. The last average PM10 concentration measured was 
34.97μg/m3, which is below the legally prescribed limit (40 μg/m3).  

Luka Koper, d.d. has set itself the task to halve this figure by 2010, as required by the 
European and Slovenian legislation. This goal will be achieved by preventive measures and 
activities aimed at reducing dust particles in the atmosphere. In March 2008, a mobile 
station will start being used for PM10 emissions. In the framework of operational monitoring 
of emissions into the atmosphere, the authorised organisation is conducting measurements 
at the liquid cargo terminal. The results of measurements are below the prescribed 
maximum limits.  

Concentration of dust particles, μg/m3  

 

 

Comparison of noise levels in the entire area of Luka Koper, d.d.   

 
Monitoring noise effects on the environment  

Noise immissions have been regularly measured since 1998 at three locations: near the town 
centre of Koper and at border points towards Ankaran and Bertoki, where measuring devices 
were installed at the end of 2007 for continuing noise measurements. While the night time 
noise levels decreased, noise levels during the day slightly rose on account of the new 
facilities being constructed. However, both levels are below the prescribed limits.  

Rational energy and water consumption  

In order to reduce the consumption of energy, energy sources and water, we are considering 
the use of alternative energy sources. The water needed for the European energy terminal is 
drawn from wells. We are reducing the loss of water from the distribution network by 
promptly discovering water losses and via computer control.  

Fuel consumption is limited by the use of more electrically-powered machinery; however, 
this machinery is usually not strong enough. In spite of the above, the consumption is 
slightly increasing as a consequence of the higher number of services with added value. The 
increase in consumption per tonne of throughput is attributed also to the lack of warehouses 
and thus goods transport outside the terminals to a wider area of port. Energy consumption 
has decreased over the last few years. Admittedly, the costs were somewhat higher, but this 
was due to the rise in electricity prices.  

Systematic waste management  

The environmental awareness of our employees is also reflected in the separate collection 
and recycling of waste. At the port, up to 70% of all waste is collected separately and then 
handed over for recycling. We improved the cleanliness and appearance of our working 
environment as well as boosted the cost-effectiveness of our operations. We perform the 
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mandatory public utility service of collecting solid and liquid waste from vessels in the area of 
the Port of Koper.  

Sea protection  

Services related to the prevention and elimination of the consequences of sea pollution are 
carried out on the basis of a contract concluded between the Republic of Slovenia and Luka 
Koper, d.d. We supervise the port aquatorium 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. On the Luka 
Koper Group level, we organised the Sea Protection Department and formulated the Plan of 
action and informing in the case of hazardous substance spills at sea. Crucial for successful 
performance are the suitably qualified staff and adequate equipment.  

 
In 2007, we acquired the equipment for sea protection and participated in two international 
exercises for spills of hazardous substances at sea. We played the leading role at the ‘Sea 
2007’ national-level exercise. In October 2007 our Sea Protection Department gained the 
first ecological intervention vessel to be used in the case of sea pollution. ‘Kormoran’, a 
special Gabbiano boat, is fitted with all equipment necessary for the remediation of small-
scale pollution. In December, we received the fast working patrol boat OMNIA 10.60, 
designed for patrolling and quick interventions in extraordinary events at sea. Our goal is to 
acquire a concession for the mandatory public utility service of maintaining aquatic and 
inshore land in the entire area of the Slovenian sea.  

  

Reduction of light pollution  

We commissioned a study for the overall adjustment of the existing external lighting in the 
port area with the Decree on Limit Values Due to Light Pollution of the Environment. The 
new outdoor warehouses are lit by fixtures that comply with the said Decree.  

Informing the public about environmental aspects 

 We provide data to the national authorities as prescribed and within the legally set 
deadlines. The public is informed via our website, the ‘Luški glasnik’ bulletin and the public 
media. We also issue publications describing the development of the Luka Koper Group, 
organise interactive workshops, publish professional articles about sustainable development 
and take an active part in environmental conferences.  

Environmental objectives for 2008  
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In 2008, we have set the following environmental protection objectives:  

• upgrading the environmental management system according to the EMAS system 
requirements;  

• obtaining the OHSAS 18001 certificate of occupational safety and health of workers;  
• acquiring a concession for the mandatory public utility service of maintaining aquatic 

and inshore land in the entire area of the Slovenian sea;  
• environmental activities on the operative level will focus on cutting unfavourable 

environmental impacts of our activity. 
 

SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS 
 

Responsible selection of suppliers  

The Luka Koper Group continued organising purchasing conferences which connected 
employees at profit centres who are responsible for purchasing equipment with the 
Technology and Purchasing Department with the aim of ensuring uniform and optimal 
purchasing.  

At the end of 2007, we assessed 22 suppliers from two groups: technical services and 
products. Assessment criteria were the following: quality, delivery deadline, price, time 
needed for resolving complaints, payment terms and the environmental policy of a supplier.  

As in the year before, in 2007 the Committee gave high scores to suppliers, which means 
that the high quality of suppliers has been preserved. Suppliers are selected and included in 
the list of strategic suppliers on the basis of this assessment. Namely, we only co-operate 
and conduct business with strategic suppliers who can assure reliability as regards the 
supplied goods or services, along with the desired quality and agreed deadline.  

According to the Committee’s assessment we established a team for selecting the best 
supplier. In addition, rewards will be presented to the best suppliers in specific areas.  

Partnership with suppliers  

We develop partnerships with competent and financially stable suppliers which maintain a 
high quality level of products and services. We have concluded agreements with suppliers on 
the provision of critical inventories and the timely delivery of material. The success of the 
systematic building of partnerships with suppliers is reflected in a drastic drop in the number 
of complaints and the low percentage of missed contractual deadlines. By having a uniform 
presence in the market we also create conditions for attaining better effects.  

When purchasing new assets, significant attention is paid to more energy efficient and 
environmentally-friendly assets. We started systematically monitoring the introduction of new 
technologies in practice and the launch of technological solutions for enhancing productivity 
and intensifying environmental protection.  

RESPONSIBILITY TO CUSTOMERS  

 We have built excellent relations with all our customers and maintain them within the 
framework of the EFQM business excellence model. We monitor their opinions through 
contacts between them and the sales staff (meetings, telephone conversations, e-mail) and 
the annual customer satisfaction survey which in 2007 was for the first time carried out in an 
electronic form, via a questionnaire on the Company’s website. We take into account 
customers’ opinions and inform them about adopted measures, thus encouraging them to 
put forward proposals for the improvement and development of services, and to reinforce 
our co-operation.  
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Complaints from customers totalled EUR 160,957 or 0.13% in 2007 - a negligible proportion 
of operating revenue, but which evidence our high-quality services which is relevant in the 
scope of business relations. 
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INTRODUCTORY NOTES TO THE PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT  

Consolidated financial statements and notes to the finan-cial statements of the Luka Koper 
Group and unconsolidated financial statements and notes to the financial statements of the 
company Luka Koper, d.d. have been presented as two separate reports. The financial 
statements have been pre-pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (hereinafter: IFRS).  

The auditors of Deloitte revizija, d.o.o. audited the con-solidated and unconsolidated 
financial statements and the notes thereto and prepared the auditor’s report which has been 
included in the corresponding sections.  

The statement of management’s responsibility is pub-lished at the beginning of the financial 
report and denotes management’s responsibility for all financial statements, i.e. the financial 
statements of the Luka Koper Group and the company Luka Koper, d.d.  

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY  

Management of the company Luka Koper, d.d. declares that it fully approves the 
consolidated financial statements of the Luka Koper Group for the year ended 31 December 
2007 as well as the unconsolidated financial statements of the company Luka Koper, d.d.  

Management confirms that the financial statements have been prepared under the 
assumption of going concern and in accordance with applicable legislation. The consistent 
ap-plication of accounting policies and guidelines together with a prudent preparation of 
accounting estimates represent a basis for a true and fair presentation of the financial 
position of Luka Koper, d.d. and the Luka Koper Group and of their financial performance in 
the year 2007.   

 

Koper, 27 March 2008  

President of the Management Board  

Robert Časar   
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INCOME STATEMENT - audited and consolidated 
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BALANCE SHEET - audited and consolidated 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
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CHANGES IN EQUITY 
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UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT OF LUKA 
KOPER, D.D. FOR 2007 
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INCOME STATEMENT - audited and unconsolidated 
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BALANCE SHEET - audited and unconsolidated 

 

 
 

 

 



PPoovvzzeetteekk  LLeettnneeggaa  ppoorrooččiillaa  22000077                                                            

     -    - 78

 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
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EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE  
 

Changes affecting associated companies  

 The subsidiary company Adria Terminali, d.o.o. got a new co-owner - the company Trade 
Trans Terminal - which belongs to a logistics business system Trade Trans Invest from 
Bratislava. In January 2008, the said company purchased a 49% interest from Luka Koper.   

Establishment of associated companies  

In January 2008, Luka Koper, d.d. and the company Ekološka energija Koper, d.o.o. co-
founded a new company Ecoporto Koper, d.o.o. with a nominal capital of EUR 10,000, which 
is engaged in the production of alternative energy. Luka Koper has a 24.9% stake in the 
company.  

In January, Luka Koper, d.d. and the company Altena, d.o.o. co-founded a limited liability 
company Adriasole, d.o.o. with a nominal capital of EUR 10,000, in which Luka Koper holds a 
24.9% stake. The company is engaged in the production of alter-native energy.  

Luka Koper d.d. became a one-third owner of the company Rail Port Arad (the other two 
partners being MAV Cargo from Hungary and Trade Trans Invest from Slovakia), which will 
construct an inland container terminal in Romania’s Arada - a strategic point along axis 4 of 
the European corridor. The investment is worth EUR 1,500,000, and the annual throughput 
ca-pacity of the new terminal, which measures 10 hectares, will equal 60,000 TEU (container 
units). As a result, the throughput of containers in the port of Koper can be increased as well 
(305,648 TEU in 2007). The port or its European logistics centre in Sežana will be connected 
with the Arad terminal via block trains.  

The subsidiary Adria Terminali, d.o.o. together with the Italian companies Pacorini and 
Ocean, established the company GCT (General Cargo Terminal). The latter will participate in 
a tender for winning a concession to manage the general cargo terminal in the Port of 
Trieste, transhipping mainly timber 

Acquisitions of companies  

In February 2008, Luka Koper, d.d. took full ownership of the company Investicije 
Novamark, d.o.o., for the amount of EUR 2,081,552.   

Authorisation for the performance of VAT warehouse services  

 On 26 February 2008, the Customs Office of Koper issued an authorisation to Luka Koper, 
d.d. for the performance of VAT warehouse services. Issued for an unlimited period, the 
authorisation is effective from 1 March 2008. A tax warehouse enables EU customers to be 
exempt from the levying and payment of VAT on services related to Community goods. For 
Luka Koper, d.d., the authorisation represents yet another competitive advantage over ports 
that do not offer this possibility and competition with EU ports, which already provide such 
services, on a more equal footing.   

Dischargment of the employee director 

The members of the Supervisory Board passed the proposal of the Workers‘ Council of Luka 
Koper, d.d. and discharged the previous employee director, member of the Management 
Board, Pavle Krumenaker. His successor was not appointed. In line with the Workers’ 
Participation in Management Act, a Committee was founded, comprised of three 
representatives of the Supervisory Board and three representatives of the Workers‘ Council. 
By the next meeting of the Supervisory Board, the Committee is expected to propose a joint 
candidate for the Management Board - employee director. 


